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MANAGEMENT BOARD REPORT
The management of Nuts Topholding B.V. (‘Nuts Topholding’ or the ‘Company’) hereby presents 
its management board report for the financial year ended on 31 December 2024. 
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Purpose and legal structure
The Company originates from Budget Thuis B.V. (formerly NutsServices B.V.), which entered the 
Dutch energy market in 2008 as Atoomstroom (later renamed to Budget Energie). Budget Thuis 
B.V. became part of Nuts Groep, which in turn made various acquisitions. When private equity
firm Waterland joined the Group in 2017, Nuts Topholding B.V. was founded (on 7 March 2017)
with the purpose of managing all existing participations and, where possible and opportune,
founding or acquiring new companies. Most subsidiaries within Nuts Topholding are companies
that engage in - predominantly administrative - activities in the field of energy and telecom
services. Some other entities perform treasury/finance/acquisition activities within the Group.

The majority of the Company’s turnover during this reporting year was generated through its 
activities in the energy market. The Company is active on the Dutch and Belgian energy markets, 
in the non-producing segment of the energy value chain, including purchasing, consumption 
measurement, billing and payment collection. Its primary customer base consists of households 
as well as small and medium sized enterprises. In addition, the Company is  active in the Dutch 
telecom market, offering both fixed telecom services (internet, TV and landline telephone) and 
mobile telecom services (Sim-only subscriptions).

In 2020, the Company launched Budget Thuis as the umbrella-brand for Budget Energie, Budget 
Mobiel and Budget Alles-in-1. This was an important step in the transition of the Company from 
energy provider to multi-utility service provider. Since then, the Company has experienced 
satisfying growth in its telecom customer base. 

Group level, management board and shareholders 
The shares of Nuts Topholding are held for 98% by Waterland and four Company founders. The 
remaining shares are held (via a trust office) by selected members of key management who 
were able to acquire (depositary receipts of) shares. Due to acquisitions, organic growth and 
high energy prices in recent years, the Company has greatly increased in customer size and 
complexity over the past years. However, the total operating income for 2024 is EUR 771 million 
– this has decreased mainly due to lower prices on the energy markets (2023: EUR 1.000 million).
The average number of FTEs in 2024 is approximately 404 (2023: 346). The group of external
workers  - who support our organisation in large numbers - has not been included.

Introduction supervisory board
From 1 June 2024, the two-tier rules apply to Nuts Topholding. In preparation for the application 
of the two-tier rules, Nuts Topholding prepared an amendment to the articles of association 
that provides for the establishment of a supervisory board. The supervisory board has been 
appointed by the amendment of the articles of association on 31 May 2024. The members of 
the supervisory board have been appointed by the shareholders and consists of two Company 
founders and two members representing Waterland. Although all supervisory board members 
are male (inter alia caused by the fact that all founders are male), the Company strives to have 
a gender balanced supervisory board and takes this into consideration when appointing new 
supervisory board members. With the installation of the supervisory board during the reporting 
year, the Company is compliant with the applicable legislation.  
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Diversity policy 
The management board of FY 2024 started  with Caroline Princen as CEO and a Sven Pronk as 
CFO, who started in this role as per the 1st of January 2024. Beginning November of the reporting 
year, Caroline stepped down as CEO and she is succeeded by Annemarie Buitelaar. Together with 
a small executive committee (where management of Customer service, IT, HR and the Energy 
and Telecom business units are represented) they are responsible for the strategic direction 
and operational business of the company. The male/female ratio within this committee is 57% 
male and 43% female. In its hiring and appointment policy, the board strives for a balanced 
50% male, 50% female distribution in leadership positions within the group. This policy is also 
reflected in the current board position with a female CEO and a male CFO. The management 
group, supporting the earlier mentioned executive board of 7 people including CEO and CFO – 
consists of 26 employees, of which 16 male (± 62%) and 10 female (± 38%). In case of any changes 
or expansion of the management board and management group in the future, the Company’s 
ambition is to move to a perfect gender balanced management group. Since the SER reporting 
on diversity got applicable for FY 2022, we have been compliant with the SER reporting policy by 
filling out the questionnaire. In the questionnaire, we reported that we formally strive to a 33% 
ratio of women in the Board and  the Management Board in 2024. In 2024, we met our ambitions 
as disclosed in the SER questionnaire.
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

Turnover, result and financial position 
In 2024, Nuts Topholding had a total operating income of EUR 771 million, a decrease of EUR 229 
million compared to 2023. This decrease is mainly due to decreases in energy prices and to a 
decrease in customer base of 5% in the Dutch energy market over the reporting year. 

The total operating expenses for 2024 are EUR 698 million, of which EUR 599 million is related to 
the purchases directly related to turnover such as gas, electricity and telecom services.

The result after taxes for 2024 is EUR 58 million (2023: EUR 35 million). The increase is mainly 
caused by the impact of IFRS-9 derivative accounting in 2023 causing a negative impact on the 
results of 2023 of EUR 38 million. If we ignore the result of IFRS-9 derivative accounting, we see 
that our result after taxes decreased by  EUR 8 million, which is mainly caused by a decreased 
customer base for power & gas in the Netherlands, combined with decreased market prices. The 
Company notes that it maintains a hedging policy of 100% of expected consumer volume with 
increased focus on (expected) weather- and consumer behaviour based on recent experiences.

Financial position
Per 31 December 2024 Nuts Topholding has a total equity position of EUR 109 million (2023: EUR 
96 million). We note all forward positions are presented on the statement of financial position 
at fair value (following IFRS 9). In 2023, market prices declined. The Group started to account 
for the commodity delivery position of fixed rate sales contracts entered into from 1 January 
2023 onwards, to offset the fair value of forward purchasing contracts and thereby reducing 
accounting mismatch. In the current reporting year, no changes in terms of the accounting for 
forward positions were noted.

Debt-Free Status
By the end of 2023, the Company decided to fully pay off its long-term debt, which was EUR 134 
million, and become a debt-free company. As such, the Company has no long-term debt  since 
the end of 2023. Instead, the Company could access different funding options for temporary 
cash needs in the form of revolving facilities: EUR 50 million throughout the year; EUR 30 million 
seasonal between January and June; and bank guarantees of up to EUR 100 million. During the 
2024 reporting year, no updates on the above Facilities were noted. 

Liquidity
Cash and cash equivalents as of 31 December 2024 have increased by EUR 15,8 million compared 
to 31 December 2023, which is mainly caused by the net cash flow over the year taking into 
account dividend payments. 

The solvency ratio (equity divided by total assets) per 31 December 2024 amounted to 16,8% 
(2023: 13,6%). The improvement in solvability is driven by the result over 2024, and the decrease 
of the total asset value caused by lower energy prices (for example impacting derivatives and 
trade and other receivables).
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The current ratio (current assets divided by current liabilities) per 31 December 2024 amounted 
to 60,4% (2023: 64,1%). The liquidity ratio has decreased in current year compared to prior 
year due to the increase of the energy prices around year-end, resulting in higher accruals and 
payables to energy/gas providers compared to last year. Despite the decrease in the liquidity 
ratio, the Company’s cash position is strong and the Company keeps on monitoring it’s ratios (e.g. 
by  applying different stress-scenario’s on cash forecasts, and updating customers instalment 
amounts to properly reflect energy market prices).

Capital Management
The Group’s largest subsidiary, Budget Thuis, charges its customers a month in advance. A 
significant part of the payables is due at a later date after monthly invoicing, such as energy tax, 
VAT and network costs. In this way, a ‘supply only’ energy supplier like the Group manages its 
working capital to limit the need for borrowed capital for its operating activities. 

The customers’ consumption, for gas in particular, is strongly influenced by the season. Due to 
the billing of consistent advance amounts (1/12th of the expected annual sales) to its customers 
and relatively strong variability in consumption, the (negative) working capital traditionally 
varies during the year. Because customers’ consumption is settled directly with the Company’s 
suppliers, there is a low point in the cash position at the end of the winter. Traditionally, there is a 
significant surplus of cash at the end of the summer.
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DEVELOPMENTS THAT SHAPED 2024

Dutch price cap
In 2022, the Dutch government set a limit for the 2023 energy prices that suppliers could charge 
to customers. These prices were EUR 1,45 per m3 for the first 1.200 m3 of gas consumption and 
EUR 0,40 per kWh electricity for the first 2.900 kWh including energy tax and VAT. By the end of 
2022, the Company had an advance of EUR 32 million from the government to bill to customers 
throughout FY 2023, with EUR 5 million left to bill to customers by the end of FY 2023. During 
FY 2023, the Company received another EUR 71 million from the Dutch government and billed 
EUR 98 million to customers already. As per the end of 2024, the Company has to settle a limited 
amount of ca EUR 15K related to the Price Cap with customers which is expected to be settled in 
the beginning of 2025.

The return of fixed contracts
The continued decline in energy prices and the reduced market volatility enabled the company 
to resume selling fixed-price contracts. This shift was partially  driven by new legislation for early 
contract termination resulting in penalty fees for breaching contracts which took effect per June 
2023. Budget Energie was among the first suppliers to resume offering fixed contracts. At the 
end of the year, the prices for future contracts were below the pre-Ukraine crisis prices causing a 
growing number of customers opting for a fixed contract. At the peak of market uncertainty, 60% 
of customers had a variable contract, however, by the end of 2023, this had decreased to below 
39% which further decreased to just under 30% at the end of the reporting year. 
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INVESTMENTS AND NEW BUSINESS DEVELOPMENTS IN 
2024 AND BEYOND
•	 Renewed energy offerings. The Company has focused on diversifying its product portfolio and 

tariff policies, both in response to the current market situation and with a forward-looking 
approach to future developments.  
 
In 2023, the Company added a dynamic tariff to its portfolio, allowing the Company to bill 
customers based on the actual daily spot market prices. Additionally, the Company launched 
two tariff policies in January 2024: a ‘free energy’ offer to encourage customers to use 
electricity during specific timeslots (the greenest, most sustainable), fostering awareness of 
energy consumption patterns. Moreover, a production charge for customers with solar panels 
to cover the extra costs of electricity production was implemented. The energy crisis caused 
a continuous increase in costs related to customer profiling and imbalance. These costs are 
mainly resulting from our customers with solar panels. These costs are reflected in the overall 
commodity costs, which influences the prices we charge to our entire customer base.  
 
Another example of our focus on renewed energy offerings is the combination offer for fixed 
gas prices while customers can opt for dynamic pricing for power. In this way, the Company 
aims to offer customers a broad number of options fulfilling customers preferences. 

•	 Significant groundwork was laid in 2023 for the projects launched early 2024. Throughout the 
year, the Company allocated ongoing IT investments to facilitate projects, aimed at optimizing 
existing systems and structures. 

•	 In the reporting year, the Company acquired two new entities. In April 2024, the Company 
acquired ‘Energiebespaarders’, including minor entity Building Blocks B.V. Energiebespaarders 
has an online platform where households can complete a questionnaire to receive a tailored 
offer to make their houses more sustainable- such as offering isolation, heat pumps and other 
options to be able to reduce energy consumption. Subsequently, Energiebespaarders can 
connect households to contractors to perform the proposed improvements. The Company 
invested in Energiebespaarders as part of its commitment to sustainability, aiming to support 
households to decrease their energy consumption and to contribute in this way to a more 
sustainable world by lowering Scope-3 emissions. 

•	 The other acquisition consists of a 50% investment in the newly established entity ‘Fiber Crew 
Holding’. Fiber Crew holds multiple entities which own fiber lines. The other 50% is owned by 
the founders of the underlying entities. Fiber Crew is committed to invest in new fiber lines 
throughout the country with the financial support of the Company. The Company hopes to be 
able to offer new fiber propositions via Fiber Crew’s fiber network in the upcoming years.  

•	 The Company aims to increase its internet customer base in the upcoming years. As part of 
this, in November 2024 a rebranding took place in which Budget Alles-in-1 was renamed into 
Budget Internet.
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Commitment to sustainability
All energy customers receive green electricity products; for a large part this consists of European 
wind, but hydroelectric energy and biomass energy products are also used to meet the energy 
needs of our customers.

The Company purchases a sizable share of wind energy, the volume of wind energy in the total 
portfolio was 55% in 2024 (98% in 2023) for the Dutch market (Budget Energie). The decrease 
is caused by the fact that in 2024 the Company’s trading department focused more on a 
combination of different certificates next to wind, like solar and biogas (hydro). The Composition 
is as follows:

FY 2024 FY 2023

Solar 6% 0%

EU Hydro 39% 2%

EU Wind 49% 91%

NL Wind 6% 7%

The Company is closely monitoring the developments regarding the sustainability reporting 
requirements which  will be communicated by the European Union and/or other regulatory 
bodies. Next to that, the Company is strongly committed to contribute its fair share in 
creating a better environment. This is shown by the earlier-mentioned acquisition of the 
Energiebespaarders and the Company’s efforts to stimulate household’s awareness of consuming 
energy in periods in which there is oversupply of energy for example by offering free Green 
Energy in the summer period. Management is currently further developing its sustainability 
strategy for the short-, medium- and long term and will integrate its ambitious sustainability 
strategy within the Company’s operating strategy. It’s the Board’s ambition to be transparent in 
future reporting regarding sustainability results and goals to meet stakeholders expectations.

Social responsible efforts
The Company faces multiple challenges including the increased uncertainty regarding people’s 
ability to afford their energy expenses. Our efforts to foster a more compassionate approach 
to debt collection has shown promising results. With ongoing decreases in end-of-service 
terminations due to payment defaults, it’s clear that a socially-oriented approach is making a 
difference.

Additionally, we work together with partners and municipalities to proactively implement early 
detection programs, reaching out to individuals facing financial difficulties at an early stage to 
provide support and assistance.

In the spirit of community collaboration, Budget Thuis made notable contributions in 2024. Not 
only did we allocate funds to Tijdelijk Noodfonds Energie (Energy Social Fund), but we also shared 
our expertise, enhancing efforts to assist low-income households struggling with escalating 
energy costs. These partnerships between public and private sectors are vital for the quest for 
inclusive solutions, emphasizing solidarity and compassion as essential drivers of social progress 
in the utility sector. Another example is our corporation with foundation SINA (“Samen Is Niet 
Alleen”), supporting this social foundation in many different ways.
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Personnel efforts
We are committed to fostering a supportive and inclusive work environment where employees 
feel valued and empowered. We regularly measure employee satisfaction through internal 
surveys and use the feedback to improve workplace culture, leadership, and development 
opportunities. Wellbeing initiatives, including flexible work arrangements and mental health 
support, are also in place to ensure a healthy work-life balance. Moreover, we actively work to 
reduce employee turnover. Our workforce reflects our commitment to diversity and inclusion. 
We strive for a balanced gender ratio across all levels of the organization and are taking active 
steps to close any pay gaps.

Non-financial performance indicators
We note the following non-financial performance indicators are considered relevant:  

•	 Gender balanced board;
•	 Supplying of green energy products and the composition of the green energy;
•	 Customer satisfaction scores / churn rate;
•	 Contributions to charity and time devoted to help charity. 
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SIGNIFICANT RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
As a consequence of the business model, the company is exposed to various risks. The main risks 
and the Company’s response towards the individual risks comprises of:

1.	 Market price risk: the risk that the Company will lose margin as a result of increased 
prices for energy volumes, which the Company has not hedged for, or less usage in combination 
with decreased prices. 

The Company sells fixed-price (energy) contracts with a duration of 1, 2 and 3 years, creating 
a future obligation to provide energy at a fixed price.  The Company always ensures that the 
risk of price increases of future electricity and gas to be purchased is fully covered by futures. 
In other words, the margin on a customer with a fixed-price contract is fixed at or around the 
time of the conclusion of that contract, and the price risk is thereby almost entirely covered. 
The sole purpose of these futures is to actually obtain gas and electricity in accordance with the 
customers’ expected consumption. The board is informed on a periodic basis about the position 
of the company with regards to future obligations. 

2.	 Churn risk: under- or overhedged positions due to deviations in expected in-contract 	
churn. 

There is a risk on deviation in expected in-contract churn. When market prices for consumer go 
down or up, customers tend to switch to a competitor or stay longer. In this case the Company is 
either under- or overhedged. In 2023, the Company started offering fixed-price contracts but the 
churn risk will be limited due to the introduction of the new penalty clause from the Government. 
The new penalty clause means that the energy provider is basically compensated for all losses 
to be incurred due to the customers churn. This legislation came officially into place in June 2023 
reducing the Company’s churn risk.

3.	 Margin call risk: in the event of a margin call, the underlying market price of a contracted 
future changes. The difference between the market price and the future price is settled in cash 
on a periodic basis when margin calls are determined in the contract. A drop in market price can 
therefore result in additional prepayments of futures and therefore a cash out.

To mitigate the risk regarding margin calls the Company has agreed upon a guarantee structure 
with several financing partners to overcome temporary cash needs with regards to margin calls. 
The new guarantee structure includes 100 million of guarantees for counterparties and 80 million 
of revolving facilities (50 million all year round and 30 million seasonal between January and 
June).
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4.	 Liquidity risk: the risk of a cash shortage that could result in the Company not meeting 
its obligations.

A harsh winter, strongly fluctuating energy prices or a changing tax regime may negatively 
affect the cash position. A daily cash forecast enables the Board to simulate the development of 
the cash position under various (extreme) scenarios in very detail. Furthermore, the Company 
proactively takes on additional revolving facilities, which ensures sufficient availability of cash in 
case of extreme circumstances.

5.	 Credit risk: the risk that the Company will lose margin because customers or suppliers 
cannot fulfil their obligations. 

The claims that the Company’s subsidiaries have on customers (for the most part, this relates to 
individuals in relation to the supply of energy and telecom services) are individually limited in size 
and spread over a large number of items. As a result, the debtor risk is limited. 

6.	 Trading in energy futures involves counterparty risk: The risk is mitigated either 
by making use of two-way daily margining (for example, by means of clearing with Raiffeissen 
Clearing) or by working with creditworthy suppliers.

7.	 IT related risk: The Company is exposed to IT related risks such as cybercrime and the 
failure of business critical applications.

IT related risks are a high priority for the Company as the Company is very dependent on its IT 
environment and its data. The Board periodically discusses the prioritization of development and 
maintenance of the IT system. The Board has appointed a CISO and a Risk Manager as second 
line of defence in 2023. In addition, the Company makes use of external partners for guidance 
on IT security. In 2024, the Company started the process of implementing ISO and meeting 
upcoming NIS-2 compliances. This also covers broader risk management by the Company.

8.	 Weather effect risk: the risk that the weather forecasts are not in line with the actual 
temperatures which might result in higher- or lower sales volumes and/or negative margins.

Within the Company, a highly experienced team of traders is heavily involved in the monitoring 
of the purchase of power and gas on a daily basis. Due to the level of involvement and expertise 
of the team, the portfolio management is highly effective by discussing weather forecasts and 
-results and anticipate on that by day-ahead and intra-day trading. The Company’s trading 
department is required to follow a hedge mandate signed by the CFO, mandating the trading 
department to hedge 100% of expected future sales volumes. 
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9.	 Customer behaviour risk: the risk that customer behaviour is not in line with our 
expectations which might result in higher- or lower sales volumes and/or negative margins.

Within the Company data scientists are working on a daily basis to identify patterns and 
expectations regarding customer behaviour during the current market circumstances. These 
outcomes are discussed on management- and board level. Due to this high-level involvement 
and data-based approach the Company mitigates this risk as much as possible.

The Company quantifies its risks as effectively as possible and responds to them if necessary.

Risk Appetite 
Regarding risk-acceptance, the Company aims to minimize risk as much as possible. This results 
in a conservative hedging policy that minimizes risk on price volatility.
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FRAUD AND NON-COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND 
REGULATIONS 
The Board ensures that the Group complies with all relevant laws and regulations, codes 
(of conduct) and guidelines. The Company works with an external agency that helps us to 
effectively meet compliance with laws and regulations that are relevant to energy supply in 
our organisation. The Company has established internal codes of conduct that are stipulated 
in the HR manual and available on the intranet. The HR-department monitors compliance with 
the code by conducting employee interviews and strongly emphasizes the possibility to report 
any incidents to the external confidential counsellor (facilitating whistleblower policy). No 
whistleblower notifications have been received over 2024.

Budget Thuis B.V. and Elegant B.V. who are the licensed subsidiaries report to the respective 
regulatory bodies ACM and VREG on a monthly basis. ACM and VREG also regularly ask energy 
suppliers, including the Company, for additional information, for example to test compliance or 
financial liquidity forecasts.

In response to the possible fraud risk on financial reporting and non-compliance with laws 
and regulations, the Company takes various measures. An internal control system has been 
established which relate to the most significant financial transactions, consisting of segregations 
of duties in place for the negotiation of contracts, preparation of estimates, approval 
process of write-off of receivables, advance payments and monitoring by the directors of the 
aforementioned processes. Furthermore, (compliance) reporting deadlines are strictly monitored 
by management and the responsible employees. External consultants are engaged when 
professional advice is required. 

The safeguards that have been taken as an organization on various areas reduce the risk of 
fraud on various elements, and the Board therefore assesses the residual risk of fraud and non-
compliance with laws and regulations as low.
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FOCUS AND FORECASTS 2025 AND FURTHER
During 2024 the Company achieved customer growth for their Telecom business but saw 
a decline in the Dutch Power & Gas customer base. In 2025, the Company aims to further 
grow in their Telecom customer base and  aims to grow again in the Dutch Energy market, 
amongst others by making use of new sales channels. The Company will continue to manage 
its multi-utility strategy, to continue growth in telecom and reduction of churn. The Company 
acknowledge that turnover ratios are dependent on market circumstances (energy prices) and 
will focus on internal cost reduction to be able to offer lowest energy prices to customers to 
decrease households energy expenses. 

The Company also continues to invest in its IT-environment, to enable future efficiencies and 
enhance the customer experience on the Budget Thuis app, with the aim of further improving 
(financial) performance in the following years. The Company expects to maintain its staffing levels 
at a similar level.

Research and Development
Investments will be mainly focused on the IT-environment to improve our business processes 
with a strong focus on research & development activities to explore new efficient way of workings 
and improve customer experiences. The Company will continue its focus on its role in the energy 
transition, by exploring opportunities to invest in batteries and stimulate households to reduce 
their energy usage to reduce Scope-3 emissions. The Company does not anticipate a need to 
increase the current loan facilities for this.

Going concern assumption
Future turnover and profitability are highly dependent on market developments. Based on the 
information currently available, our current knowledge, the existing capital and cash balances 
combined with financing facilities we can use, we believe that the going concern assumption used 
by the Company for the preparation of these financial statements is appropriate.

Amsterdam, 28 May 2025

A.C. BUITELAAR 
CEO (appointed per 

November 2024)

S. PRONK 
CFO
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   Consolidated financial statements
   Separate financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

  �Consolidated statement of financial 
position

  �Consolidated statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive 
income

  �Consolidated statement of changes 
in equity

  Consolidated statement of cash flows
  �Notes to the consolidated financial 
statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(After appropriation of result)

Assets
Property, plant and equipment [6]          11.706           7.098 
Intangible assets and goodwill [7]        314.717        315.096 
Deferred tax assets [25]            2.857              568 
Other non-current assets            1.403           1.757 
  
Non-current assets 330.683 324.519 

     
Inventories            1.911              804 
Trade and other receivables [8]          78.321        139.935 
Derivative financial instruments [9]          55.875          76.829 
Cash and cash equivalents [10]        181.546        165.787 
 
Current assets 317.653  383.355 
  
Total assets        648.336 707.874 
  
Equity [11]  
Share capital                 10                10 
Share premium        114.594        114.594 
Retained earnings       (9.919)       (18.158) 
  
Equity attributable to owners of the 
Company

       104.685 96.446 

Non-controlling interest 4.093 -

Total equity        108.778 96.446 
 
Liabilities
Loans and borrowings [12]            4.334           3.351 
Contract liabilities [16]                 31           1.655 
Provisions [13]                 -                  -   
Deferred tax liabilities [25]            9.035           8.374 

 
Non-current liabilities          13.400          13.380 
 
Loans and borrowings [12]            2.219           1.758 
Provisions [13]                 -                500 
Current tax liabilities [14]          63.659          58.876 
Trade and other payables [15]        193.363        183.665 
Contract liabilities [16]        211.306        273.220 
Derivative financial instruments [9]          55.611          80.029 
  
Current liabilities 526.158  598.048 
 
Total equity and liabilities 648.336  707.874 

The notes on pages 25 to 76 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

31 December
2024

31 December
2023

EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Revenue from contracts with customers [18]       770.703        901.141 
Other income [18]                 -            98.906 
   
Total operating income        770.703 1.000.047
  
Costs of energy and other utilities [19] (598.768)  (808.432) 
Costs of outsourced work and 
other external costs

[20] (41.195) (50.250) 

Wages and salaries [21] (26.562)        (20.633) 
Social security and pension charges [21] (5.075)         (3.326) 
Amortization, depreciation and impairment 
on intangible and tangible fixed assets

[22]       (22.915)        (31.304) 

Fair value gain/(loss) derivative financial 
instruments

[17]           3.464      (228.710) 

Gain/(loss) from impairments on trade 
and other receivables

[17]            (904)            1.293 

Gain/(loss) from changes in the provision 
for onerous contracts

[13] -        190.353 

Other operating expenses [23]         (5.772)         (2.453) 
  
Total operating expenses      (697.727)      (953.462) 
   
Operating result          72.976          46.585 

Finance income [24]           3.358            6.935 
Finance costs [24]         (1.952)        (10.854) 
  
Net finance income (costs)            1.406         (3.919) 
   
Result before tax          74.382          42.666 

 
Tax on results from ordinary activities  [25]       (16.048)         (7.470) 

Profit for the period          58.334          35.196 
   
Other comprehensive income for the period, 
net of tax

 - -

  
Total comprehensive income for the 
period, net of tax

         58.334 35.196 

  
Total comprehensive income for the period, 
attributable to:

 

- Owners of the company [34]         58.239         35.196 
- Non-controlling interest 95 -

58.334 35.196

The notes on pages 25 to 76 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

For the year ended
31 December 2024

For the year ended
31 December 2023

EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Balance at 1 January 
2023

10 114.594 (53.354) 61.250                 -   61.250 

     
Total comprehensive 
income for the period:

    

Profit -   -   35.196 35.196 - 35.196
     
Total comprehensive 
income for the period:

-   -   35.196 35.196 - 35.196

     
Balance at 31 
December 2023

10 114.594 (18.158) 96.446                 -   96.446 

     
Balance at 1 January 
2024

10 114.594 (18.158) 96.446                 -   96.446 

     
Total comprehensive 
income for the period:

    

Acquisition of subsidiary 
with 
non-controlling interests

                -                   -                   -                   -   3.998 3.998 

Profit                 -                   -          58.239 58.239  95 58.334 
Dividends   (50.000) (50.000)                 -   (50.000) 
     
Total comprehensive 
income for the period:

                -                   -                         
8.239 

                      
8.239

           
4.093 

           
12.332 

     
Balance at 31 
December 2024

10 114.594 (9.919) 104.685 4.093 108.778 

The notes on pages 25 to 76 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Retained 
earnings

Equity 
attribu-
table to 
owners 
of the 

Company

Non-
controlling 

interest
Total 

equity
EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the period         58.334 35.196 

Adjustments for:
•	 Depreciation, amortisation and 

impairment losses
[22]         22.915         31.304 

•	 Fair value loss/(gain) on derivative 
financial instruments

[17]         (3.464)       228.710 

•	 Expenses related to onerous contracts [13] -     (190.353) 
•	 Net finance costs (income) [24]         (1.406)           3.919 
•	 Tax expense [25]         16.048           7.470 

        34.093         81.050 
        92.427       116.246 

Changes in:
•	 inventories            (953)            (804) 
•	 contract assets [18]           2.504         25.309 
•	 trade and other receivables [8]         58.272         82.599 
•	 contract liabilities [16]       (63.538)       (55.592) 
•	 trade and other payables [15]         21.626       (68.312) 
•	 provisions [13]            (500)                 -   

         17.411       (16.800) 

 
Cash generated from operating activities       109.838         99.446 
Interest paid            (928)         (9.778) 
Interest received           3.277           7.015 
Income taxes paid       (23.178)       (19.014)  

      (20.829)       (21.777) 
 

Net cash from operating activities         89.009         77.669 

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash 
acquired

[7]            (242)                 -   

Acquisition of intangible fixed assets [7]       (16.983)       (14.587) 
Acquisition of tangible fixed assets [6]         (4.077)         (1.037) 

Net cash from/(used in) investing activities       (21.302)       (15.624) 

Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid [11]       (50.000)                 -   
Repayments financing arrangements [12]                 -       (134.421) 
Payments of lease liabilities [12]         (1.948)         (1.836) 

Net cash from/(used in) financing activities       (51.948) (136.257) 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents

        15.759       (74.212) 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January       165.787       239.999 

For the year ended
31 December 2024

For the year ended
31 December 2023

EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000
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Cash and cash equivalents at 
31 December       181.546       165.787 

The notes on pages 25 to 76 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. General
a) Reporting entity and relationship with parent company
Nuts Topholding B.V. (‘Nuts Topholding’ or the ‘Company’) is a private limited liability company 
domiciled in the Netherlands. The Company’s registered office is at Reguliersdwarsstraat 58A, 
Amsterdam. The Company is incorporated on 7 March 2017 and is registered in the Trade 
Register at the Chamber of Commerce under number 68242050. The Company is a holding and 
finance company and does not have any operations. These consolidated financial statements 
comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the ‘Group’ and individually ‘Group 
companies’). 

Nuts Topholding was incorporated when investment company Waterland became shareholder 
in Budget Thuis B.V. (formerly NutsServices B.V.), with the purpose of managing all existing and 
future participations of the Group. Budget Thuis B.V. (formerly NutsServices B.V.) entered the 
Dutch energy market in 2008 as Atoomstroom and was later rebranded into Budget Energie, 
and as such it’s currently known in the market. Since 2019, Budget Thuis B.V. also offers telecom 
services. 

The Company is the head of the Group. As mentioned, the Group supplies energy and telecom 
services to households and small and medium-sized enterprises. The Group does not own any 
assets to produce energy but is active on the Dutch and Belgian energy markets in the non-
physical part of the energy value chain: purchasing, consumption measurement, billing and 
payment collection. The Group is also active on the telecom market in the Netherlands with 
services for television, internet and telephony, and sim-only (mobile subscriptions).

b) Financial reporting period
These financial statements cover the year ended at 31 December 2024.

c) Going concern
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared on the basis of the going concern 
assumption.

2. Basis of preparation
a) Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements of the Company are part of the statutory financial 
statements of the Company. These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union 
(EU-IFRSs) and with Section 2:362(9) of the Dutch Civil Code. 

These financial statements were authorized for issuance by Company’s Board of Directors on 28 
May 2025.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS which requires 
the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its 
judgement in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies. The areas involving 
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are 
significant to the financial statements are disclosed in note 2(d).
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b) Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis. There 
is one exception which is measured on an alternative basis. This relates to the valuation of 
the energy contracts (both on the purchase- and selling side) which do not meet the own use 
exemption due to increased sales back to market (as customers decreased their usage because 
of high prices). Those are accounted for as derivate financial instruments at fair value through 
profit or loss (‘FVTPL’).

c) Functional and presentation currency
These consolidated financial statements are presented in euro, which is the Company’s functional 
currency. All amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise indicated.

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currencies at exchange rates at 
the dates of the transactions. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the 
functional currency at the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and 
liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated into the functional 
currency at the exchange rate when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are 
measured based on historical cost in a foreign currency are translated at the exchange rate at 
the date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences are generally recognised in profit or loss 
and presented within finance costs.

d) Use of judgements and estimates
In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management has made judgements and 
estimates that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognized prospectively.

i)	 Judgements
Information about judgements made in applying accounting policies that have the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements is included 
in the following notes:
•	 Note 7– the determination of cash generating unit for the purpose of impairment testing;
•	 Note 18 – operating income: whether the Group acts as a principal or an agent.

ii)	 Assumptions and estimation uncertainties
Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties at the reporting date that have 
a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year is included in the following notes:
•	 Note 7 – impairment test of intangible assets and goodwill: key assumptions underlying 

recoverable amounts;
•	 Note 7 – amortisation and useful life of incremental costs to obtain a contract;
•	 Note 9 and 17 – determining fair value of derivatives;
•	 Note 17 – measurement of Expected Credit Loss (‘ECL’) allowance for trade receivables and 

contract assets: key assumptions in determining the weighted-average loss rate; and
•	 Note 18 – recognition of revenue from supply and transport of electricity and gas to 

customers in connection with staggered meter reading;
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e) Fair value measurement
‘Fair value’ is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in 
its absence, the most advantageous market to which the Group has access at that date. The fair 
value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk.

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures requires the measurement of fair 
values, for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities.

The significant unobservable inputs and valuation adjustments are regularly reviewed. If third 
party information, such as broker quotes or pricing services, is used to measure fair values, then 
the evidence obtained from the third parties to support the conclusion that these valuations 
meet the requirements of IFRS standards are assessed by the Group’s finance-department, 
including the level in the fair value hierarchy in which the valuations should be classified.

Significant valuation issues are reported to and discussed by the Management.

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses market observable data 
as far as possible. Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based 
on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows.
•	 Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
•	 Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset 

or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).
•	 Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 

(unobservable inputs).

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is normally 
the transaction price – i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received. If the Group 
determines that the fair value on initial recognition differs from the transaction price and the 
fair value is evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or 
liability nor based on a valuation technique for which any unobservable inputs are judged to be 
insignificant in relation to the measurement, then the financial instrument is initially measured 
at fair value, adjusted to defer the difference between the fair value on initial recognition and the 
transaction price. Subsequently, that difference is recognized in profit or loss on an appropriate 
basis over the life of the instrument but no later than when the valuation is wholly supported by 
observable market data, or the transaction is closed out.

When one is available, the Group measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price 
in an active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if transactions for the 
asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information 
on an ongoing basis.

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Group uses valuation techniques that 
maximise the use of relevant observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. 
The chosen valuation technique incorporates all of the factors that market participants would 
take into account in pricing a transaction.

If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, then the Group 
measures assets and long positions at a bid price and liabilities and short positions at an ask 
price.

Annual report 2024  |  Nuts Topholding B.V. 27 
 

Document to which the KPMG report 3155060 / 25W00197602UTR dated 28 May 2025 also refers.



If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability might be categorised in 
different levels of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its 
entirety in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to 
the entire measurement.

The Group recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the 
reporting period during which the change has occurred.

Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair values is included in note 17– 
financial instruments.

3.	 Material accounting policies
The Group has consistently applied the following accounting policies to all periods presented in 
these consolidated financial statements.

a) Basis of consolidation
i)	 Business combinations
The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when the acquired 
set of activities and assets meets the definition of a business and control is transferred to the 
Group. In determining whether a particular set of activities and assets is a business, the Group 
assesses whether the set of assets and activities acquired includes, at a minimum, an input and 
substantive process and whether the acquired set has the ability to produce outputs.

The consideration transferred in the acquisition is generally measured at fair value, as are the 
identifiable net assets acquired. Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for impairment. Any 
gain on a bargain purchase is recognized in profit or loss immediately. Transaction costs are 
expensed as incurred, except if related to the issuance of debt or equity securities.

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing 
relationships. Such amounts are generally recognized in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration payable is measured at fair value at the acquisition date. If an 
obligation to pay contingent consideration that meets the definition of a financial instrument 
is classified as equity, then it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity. 
Otherwise, other contingent consideration is remeasured at fair value at each reporting date and 
subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognized in profit or 
loss.

If share-based payment awards (replacement awards) are required to be exchanged for awards 
held by the acquiree’s employees (acquiree’s awards) and relate to past services, then all or 
a portion of the amount of the acquirer’s replacement awards is included in measuring the 
consideration transferred in the business combination. This determination is based on the 
market-based value of the replacement awards compared with the market-based value of the 
acquiree’s awards and the extent to which the replacement awards relate to pre-combination 
service.

ii)	 Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed 
to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to 
affect those returns through its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries 
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are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date on which control commences 
until the date on which control ceases.

iii)	 Non-controlling interests
Non-controlling interests are measured initially at their proportionate share of the acquiree’s 
identifiable net assets at the date of acquisition. 
Changes in group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in loss of control are accounted for 
as equity transactions.

iv)	 Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses (except 
for foreign currency transaction gains or losses) arising from intra-group transactions, are 
eliminated. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-accounted investees are 
eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee. Unrealised 
losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no 
evidence of impairment.

b)	 Financial instruments
i)	 Recognition and initial measurement
Trade receivables and debt securities issued are initially recognised when they are originated. All 
other financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised when the Group becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) 
or financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus or minus, for an item not at FVTPL, 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable 
without a significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction price.

ii)	 Classification and subsequent measurement
Financial assets
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at amortised cost, fair value 
through other comprehensive income (‘FVOCI’) – debt investment, FVOCI – equity investment, or 
FVTPL.

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group 
changes its business model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial 
assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following the change in the 
business model.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is 
not designated as at FVTPL:
•	 it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash 

flows; and
•	 its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 

principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not 
designated as at FVTPL:
•	 it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual 

cash flows and selling financial assets; and
•	 its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
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principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are 
measured at FVTPL. The Group does not have any financial assets accounted for at FVOCI. On 
initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets 
the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates 
or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise. The Group started 
using this option for sales contracts entered into by the Group on or after 1 January 2023, as 
accounting at FVTPL for these contracts offsets the (changes in) fair value of forward purchasing 
contracts which are entered into with the intention to hedge commodity price risks arising from 
(fixed rate) sales contracts. Refer to note 9 and note 17 for further information.

Financial assets – Business model assessment
The Group makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial 
asset is held at a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and 
information is provided to management. The information considered includes:
•	 the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in 

practice. These include whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual 
interest income, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the 
financial assets to the duration of any related liabilities or expected cash outflows or realising 
cash flows through the sale of the assets;

•	 how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Group’s management;
•	 the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held 

within that business model) and how those risks are managed;
•	 how managers of the business are compensated – e.g. whether compensation is based on the 

fair value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and
•	 the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for 

such sales and expectations about future sales activity. 

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition 
are not considered sales for this purpose, consistent with the Group’s continuing recognition of 
the assets.

Financial assets that are held for trading or are managed and whose performance is evaluated on 
a fair value basis are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets – Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal 
and interest 
For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset 
on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for 
the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of 
time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as 
well as a profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the 
Group considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the 
financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual 
cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the Group 
considers:
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•	 contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows; 
•	 terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable-rate features;
•	 prepayment and extension features; and
•	 terms that limit the Group’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse 

features).

A prepayment feature is consistent with the solely payments of principal and interest criterion 
if the prepayment amount substantially represents unpaid amounts of principal and interest 
on the principal amount outstanding, which may include reasonable additional compensation 
for early termination of the contract. Additionally, for a financial asset acquired at a discount 
or premium to its contractual par amount, a feature that permits or requires prepayment at 
an amount that substantially represents the contractual par amount plus accrued (but unpaid) 
contractual interest (which may also include reasonable additional compensation for early 
termination) is treated as consistent with this criterion if the fair value of the prepayment feature 
is insignificant at initial recognition.

Financial assets – Subsequent measurement and gains and losses
Financial assets at FVTPL
These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including any 
interest or dividend income, are recognized in profit or loss. 

Financial assets at amortised cost
These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains 
and losses and impairment are recognized in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is 
recognized in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities – Classification, subsequent measurement and gains and losses
Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability 
is classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading, it is a derivative or it is designated 
as such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net 
gains and losses, including any interest expense, are recognized in profit or loss. Other financial 
liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss. Any gain 
or loss on derecognition is also recognized in profit or loss.

iii)	 Derecognition
Financial assets
The Group derecognizes a financial asset when:
•	 the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire; or
•	 it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which either:

◊	 substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred; 
or

◊	 	in which the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of 
ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.

Financial liabilities
The Group derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, 
cancelled, or expired. The Group also derecognizes a financial liability when its terms are 
modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are substantially different, in which case a 
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new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognized at fair value.

On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished 
and the consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is 
recognized in profit or loss.

Netting of financial assets and financial liabilities
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement 
of financial position when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to 
set off the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and 
settle the liability simultaneously.

Derivative financial instruments
The Group enters into forward energy purchasing contracts to hedge contractual agreed volumes 
against changes in market prices. These contracts are accounted for as derivative financial 
instruments at FVTPL.

The own use exemption is available to be applied to energy sales contracts as these contracts 
are fulfilled by delivery of non-financial assets. However, the Group elected to designate energy 
sales contracts entered into on or after 1 January 2023 as accounted for at FVTPL, to reduce the 
accounting mismatch with the accounting for the Group’s forward energy purchasing contract 
portfolio. Sales contracts entered into before 1 January 2023 are still accounted for as executory 
contracts (i.e. only accounted for upon settlement).

Refer to note 9 and 17 for further information on fair value measurement of derivatives.

c) Impairment
i)	 Non-derivative financial assets

Financial instruments and contract assets
The Group recognizes loss allowances for expected credit losses (‘ECLs’) on:
•	 financial assets measured at amortised cost;
•	 contract assets.

Loss allowances for trade receivables (including lease receivables) and contract assets are always 
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since 
initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and supportable 
information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both 
quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience 
and informed credit assessment, which includes forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more 
than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when: 
•	 the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the 

Group to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or
•	 the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.
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Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a 
financial instrument.

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible within 
the 12 months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument 
is less than 12 months).

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over 
which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

Measurement of ECLs
ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the 
present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in 
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive).

ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.

Credit-impaired financial assets
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost 
and debt securities at FVOCI are credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or 
more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial 
asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:
•	 significant financial difficulty of the debtor;
•	 a breach of contract such as a default or being more than 90 days past due;
•	 the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not 

consider otherwise;
•	 it is probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or
•	 the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross 
carrying amount of the assets.

Write-off
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Group has no reasonable 
expectations of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. For individual 
customers, the Group has a policy of writing off the gross carrying amount when the financial 
asset is 1 year past due. For large customers, the Group individually makes an assessment 
with respect to the timing and amount of write-off based on whether there is a reasonable 
expectation of recovery. The Group expects no significant recovery from the amount written off. 
However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in 
order to comply with the Group’s procedures for recovery of amounts due.

ii)	 Non-financial assets
At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other 
than deferred tax assets) to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such 
indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. Goodwill is tested annually 
for impairment. 
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For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that 
generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of 
other assets or cash generating units (‘CGUs’). Goodwill arising from a business combination 
is allocated to CGUs or groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the 
combination.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less 
costs of disposal. Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU. 

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its 
recoverable amount.

Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. They are allocated first to reduce the carrying 
amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the 
other assets in the CGU on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For other assets, an impairment loss 
is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment 
loss had been recognized.

d) Property, plant and equipment
i)	 Recognition and measurement
Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost, which includes capitalised 
borrowing costs less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. 

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, then 
they are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in profit or 
loss.

ii)	 Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it is probable that the future economic benefits 
associated with the expenditure will flow to the Group.

iii)	 Depreciation
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of fixed assets less their estimated residual values 
using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives and is generally recognised in 
profit or loss.

The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are as follows: 
•	 Vehicles:				    5 – 10 years
•	 Offices:				    5 – 10 years
•	 Other fixed assets: 			   5 – 10 years
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Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and 
adjusted if appropriate.

e) Intangible assets and goodwill
i)	 Recognition and measurement
Goodwill
Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries is measured at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses (if any).

Software
Software licences are capitalised at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses. Internally developed software is recognised as in accordance with the 
capitalization requirements for development expenses in case the specific criteria are met. Other 
expenses which do not meet the criteria are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.

Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets, including customer relationships, and brand names, which are acquired 
by the Group and have finite useful lives are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation 
and accumulated impairment losses.

ii)	 Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits 
embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on 
internally generated goodwill and brands, is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

iii)	 Amortisation
Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost of intangible assets less their estimated residual 
values using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives and is generally recognised 
in profit or loss. Goodwill and emissions certificates are not amortised.

The estimated useful lives for current and comparative periods are as follows:
•	 Customer relationships:				    5 - 10 years
•	 Incremental costs to obtain new contracts: 		 3 - 5 years
•	 Brand names: 					     10 years
•	 Other intangible fixed assets: 			   3 - 10 years

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and 
adjusted if appropriate.

f) Contract assets
Contract assets relate to the Group’s right to consideration in exchange for energy or services 
that the Group has transferred to a customer other than the passage of time. The Group’s 
contract assets relate to Supplies yet to be settled concerning gas and electricity and incurred 
incremental costs to obtain new contracts. In case incremental costs to obtain new contracts are 
incurred, these are capitalised within the intangible assets when it can be anticipated that they 
will be recovered in the future. These capitalised costs are subject to amortization over a five-
year period based on a degressive amortisation period and recognized as other intangibles. The 
5-year degressive amortisation period is based on a number of factors, like the historical churn 
data and data around the average duration of contract (extensions).
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g) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are measured at nominal value. If cash and cash equivalents are not 
readily available, this fact is taken into account in the measurement.

Cash and cash equivalents denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the reporting date 
in the functional currency at the spot exchange rate applicable at that date. Reference is made to 
the accounting policies for foreign currencies.
Cash and cash equivalents that are not readily available to the Company within 12 months are 
presented under financial fixed assets.

h) Employee benefits
i)	 Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is 
recognised for the amount expected to be paid if the Group has a present legal or constructive 
obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the 
obligation can be estimated reliably.

ii)	 Share-based payment transactions
The grant-date fair value of equity-settled share-based payment awards granted to employees 
is generally recognised as an expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the vesting 
period of the awards. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number 
of awards for which the related service and non-market performance conditions are expected 
to be met, such that the amount ultimately recognised is based on the number of awards that 
meet the related service and non-market performance conditions at the vesting date. For share-
based payment awards with non-vesting conditions, the grant-date fair value of the share-based 
payment is measured to reflect such conditions and there is no true-up for differences between 
expected and actual outcomes.

iii)	 Defined contribution plans
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are expensed as the related service is 
provided. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a 
reduction in future payments is available.

i) Provisions
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost.

i)	 Onerous contracts
A provision for onerous contracts is measured at the present value of the lower of the expected 
cost of terminating the contract and the expected net cost of continuing with the contract, which 
is determined based on incremental costs necessary to fulfil the obligation under the contract. 
Before a provision is established, the Group recognizes any impairment loss on the assets 
associated with that contract.

j) Operating income
i)	 Revenue from contracts with customers
Information about the Group’s accounting policies and identified performance obligations 
relating to contracts with customers is provided in note 18
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ii)	 Other income
Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are recognised in profit or loss as other 
income on a systematic basis in the periods in which the expenses are recognised, unless the 
conditions for receiving the grant are met after the related expenses have been recognised. In 
this case, the grant is recognised when it becomes receivable.

k) Operating results
Operating profit is the result generated from the continuing principal revenue producing 
activities of the Group as well as other income and expenses related to operating activities. 
Operating profit excludes net finance costs, share of profit of equity accounted investees and 
income taxes.

l) Finance income and finance costs
The Group’s finance income and finance costs include:
•	 interest income;
•	 interest expense;

Interest income or expense is recognized using the effective interest method. 
The ‘effective interest rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or 
receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to:
a)	 the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or
b)	 the amortised cost of the financial liability.

In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross 
carrying amount of the asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired) or to the amortised cost of 
the liability. However, for financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial 
recognition, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised 
cost of the financial asset. If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest 
income reverts to the gross basis.

m) Income tax
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except 
to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in 
OCI.

Interest and penalties related to income taxes, including uncertain tax treatments, are accounted 
for under IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.

i)	 Current tax
Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss 
for the year and any adjustment to tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The 
amount of current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to 
be paid or received that reflects uncertainty related to income taxes, if any. It is measured using 
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.

ii)	 Deferred tax
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation 
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purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for:
•	 temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that:

◊	 is not a business combination; and 
◊	 at the time of the transaction (i) affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss and (ii) 

does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences;
•	 temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint 

arrangements to the extent that the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the 
temporary differences and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future; 
and

•	 taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.

The Group adopted Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single 
Transaction (Amendments to IAS 12) from 1 January 2023. The amendments narrow the 
scope of the initial recognition exemption to exclude transactions that give rise to equal and 
offsetting temporary differences, such as leases. For leases, an entity is required to recognise 
the associated deferred tax assets and liabilities from the beginning of the earliest comparative 
period presented, with any cumulative effect recognised as an adjustment to retained earnings at 
that date. For all other transactions, an entity applies the amendments to transactions that occur 
on or after the beginning of the earliest period presented.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible 
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 
against which they can be used. Future taxable profits are determined based on the reversal 
of relevant taxable temporary differences. If the amount of taxable temporary differences is 
insufficient to recognise a deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable profits, adjusted for 
reversals of existing temporary differences, are considered, based on the business plans for 
individual subsidiaries in the Group. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and 
are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised; 
such reductions are reversed when the probability of future taxable profits improves.

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the 
manner in which the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying 
amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met, being when there is a 
legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net basis 
or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

In 2023, the Netherlands enacted new legislation around global minimum tax. This legislation 
came into effect on 1 January 2024. The Group has adopted the International Tax Reform - Pillar 
Two Model Rules (Amendments to IAS 12). The amendments provide a temporary mandatory 
exemption from deferred tax accounting for the top-up tax, which is effective immediately and 
require new disclosures about the Pillar Two exposure. The Pillar Two legislation does not have 
an impact as the countries in which the group operates (The Netherlands and Belgium) have an 
effective tax rate that is higher than the minimum rate. 

n) Leases
At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A 
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified 
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 
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i)	 As a lessee 
At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group 
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative 
stand-alone prices. However, for the leases of property the Group has elected not to separate 
non-lease components and account for the lease and non-lease components as a single lease 
component. 

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. 
The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the 
lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus 
any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying 
asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives 
received.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the 
commencement date to the end of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the 
underlying asset to the Group by the end of the lease term or the cost of the right-of-use asset 
reflects that the Group will exercise a purchase option. In that case the right-of-use asset will be 
depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset, which is determined on the same basis 
as those of property and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by 
impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not 
paid at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that 
rate cannot be readily determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Group 
uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.
The Group determines its incremental borrowing rate by obtaining interest rates from various 
external financing sources and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease and 
type of the asset leased.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:
•	 fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;
•	 variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index 

or rate as at the commencement date;
•	 amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and
•	 the exercise price under a purchase option that the Group is reasonably certain to exercise, 

lease payments in an optional renewal period if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise an 
extension option, and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Group is reasonably 
certain not to terminate early.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is 
remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index 
or rate, if there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under 
a residual value guarantee, if the Group changes its assessment of whether it will exercise 
a purchase, extension or termination option or if there is a revised in-substance fixed lease 
payment.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the 
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of 
the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.
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From 1 January 2022, where the basis for determining future lease payments changes as 
required by interest rate benchmark reform, the Group remeasures the lease liability by 
discounting the revised lease payments using the revised discount rate that reflects the change 
to an alternative benchmark interest rate.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in ‘property, plant and equipment’ and lease liabilities in 
‘loans and borrowings’ in the statement of financial position.

The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of 
low-value assets and short-term leases, including IT equipment. The Group recognises the lease 
payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

o) Cash flow statement
The cash flow statement is prepared using the indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents 
include cash and investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash without a 
significant risk of changes in value. 

Receipts and payments of interest, dividends and income taxes are presented within the cash 
flows from operating activities. Payments of dividends are presented within the cash flows from 
financing activities. 

Cash payments for the principal portion of lease payments are presented as cash flows from 
financing activities, while cash payments for the interest portion of lease payments are presented 
as operating activities (in accordance with other interest payments). Short-term lease payments 
and payments for leases of low-value assets are presented as operating activities.

p) Subsequent events
Events that provide further information about the actual situation as at the reporting date 
and that become apparent up to the date of the preparation of the financial statements are 
incorporated in the financial statements.

Events that do not provide further information about the actual situation as at the reporting date 
are not incorporated in the financial statements. If such events are significant for the users of the 
financial statements to make judgments, the nature and the estimated financial consequences of 
those events are disclosed in the financial statements.

4.	 New standards and interpretations
a) New standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards, effective from 1 
January 2024
The following standards, interpretations, amendments and revisions have been endorsed by the 
EU with mandatory application for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024:
•	 Non-current liabilities with Covenants – Amendments to IAS 1 
•	 Classification of liabilities as current or non-current amendments to IAS 1
•	 Lease liabilities in a Sale and lease back – Amendments to IFRS 16
•	 Supplier finance arrangements – amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7

New standards, amendments and interpretations did not have an impact on the Group’s financial 
statements.
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b) Standards issued but not yet effective
A number of new and amended accounting standards are effective for annual periods beginning 
after 1 January 2025:
•	 Classification and measurement of financial instructions – Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 (1 

January 2026)
•	 IFRS 18 Presentation and disclosure in the financial statements (1 January 2027). 

The Group has not early adopted the new or amended accounting standards in preparing these 
consolidated financial statements. The new and amended accounting standards are not expected 
to have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

5. List of subsidiaries
Set out below is a list of subsidiaries that are part of the Group as of 31 December 2024:

Name Registered office Share in issued capital*
Nuts Topholding B.V. Amsterdam 100%
Nuts Holding B.V. Amsterdam 100%
Nuts Groep B.V. Amsterdam 100%
Budget Thuis B.V. Amsterdam 100%
Budget Energie B.V. Amsterdam 100%
Elegant B.V. Mechelen (Belgium) 100%
Energy Global Holding B.V. Rotterdam 100%
Energy Global Advies B.V. Rotterdam 100%
Energy Global Handel B.V. Rotterdam 100%
Nuts Direct Sales Holding B.V. Amsterdam 100%
Comtree Cliënt Communication Center B.V. * Sittard 100%
De Energiebespaarders B.V. ** Amsterdam 100%
Building Blocks B.V. ** Amsterdam 100%
Spokkie B.V. ** Rotterdam 50,05%
Jonaz B.V. ** Rotterdam 50,05%
Ipronto B.V. ** Rotterdam 50,05%
Fiber Crew Holding B.V.** Rotterdam 50,05%
Easy Nuts B.V. Rotterdam 68,33%

* Comtree Cliënt Communication Center B.V.  and Motto Products B.V. merged into that J.A.H. Holding 
B.V during 2024. Subsequently J.A.H Holding B.V. was renamed to Comtree Cliënt Communication 
Center B.V.  
** Acquired during 2024. Reference made to note 7. 
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Cost     
Balance at 1 January 2023               991            8.029            4.891          13.911 
Additions               195               411            1.078            1.684 
Disposals            (179)            (505)              (91)            (775) 
Remeasurement              (40)               671              (12)               619 

 
Balance at 31 December 2023               967             8.606            5.866          15.439 
     
Balance at 1 January 2024               967            8.606            5.866          15.439 
Acquisitions through business 
combinations

                -                 236            2.678            2.914 

Additions               589                 60            3.428            4.077 
Disposals            (324)            (345)              (24)            (693) 
Remeasurement                 -                 190                 -                 190 
     
Balance at 31 December 2024            1.232            8.747          11,948          21.927 
     
Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses

    

Balance at 1 January 2023            (484)         (3.013)         (3.087)         (6.584) 
Depreciation            (237)         (1.469)            (797)         (2.503) 
Disposals               167               505                 74               746 
     
Balance at 31 December 2023            (554)         (3.977)         (3.810)         (8.341) 
     
Balance at 1 January 2024            (554)         (3.977)         (3.810)         (8.341) 
Depreciation            (301)         (1.572)            (636)         (2.509) 
Disposals               310               309                 10               629 
     
Balance at 31 December 2024            (545)         (5.240)         (4.436)         (10.221) 
     
Carrying amounts     
Balance at 31 December 2023               413            4.629            2.056            7.098 
Balance at 31 December 2024               687            3.507            7.512          11.706 

Information related to right-of-use assets included within property, plant and equipment is 
included in note 26. 

Vehicles Offices  Other 
fixed assets

Total

EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000

6. Property, plant and equipment
Reconciliation of the carrying amount:
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7. Intangible assets and goodwill
Reconciliation of the carrying amount:

Cost       
Balance at 1 January 
2023

   272.110        105.298        127.307       30.400        12.409      547.524 

Additions        291                   -   11.205                -   3.091 14.587
Disposals/Write-offs              -                   -   (34.183)                -                   -   (34.183)
       
Balance at 31 
December 2023

    272.401        105.298        104.329       30.400      15.500 527.928

       
Balance at 1 January 
2024

       272.401        105.298        104.329          30.400          15.500        527.928 

Acquisitions 
through business 
combinations

           2.632                 -                   -                   -                 412            3.044 

Additions                 -                   -            15.019                 -              2.142          17.161 
Disposals/Write-offs                 -                   -           (5.940)                 -           (2.801)         (8.741) 
       
Balance at 31 
December 2024

       275.033        105.298        113.408      30.400          15.253        539.392 

       
Accumulated 
depreciation and 
impairment losses

      

Balance at 1 January 
2023

            -         (93.753)       (93.496)       (21.964)         (9.001)     (218.214) 

Amortisation               -           (7.792)       (17.277)         (1.910)         (1.822)       (28.801) 
Disposals/Write-offs               -                   -            34.183                 -                   -            34.183 
       

Balance at 31 
December 2023

             
    -   

      
    (101.545) 

    
      (76.590) 

     
      (23.874) 

    
      (10.823) 

   
    (212.832) 

       
Balance at 1 January 
2024

              -       (101.545)       (76.590)       (23.874)       (10.823)     (212.832) 

Amortisation              -           (1.653)       (15.060)         (1.910)         (1.783)       (20.406) 
Disposals/Write-offs              -                   -              5.940                 -              2.623            8.563 
       
Balance at 31 
December 2024

             -       (103.198)       (85.710)       (25.784)         (9.983)     (224.675) 

       
Carrying amounts       
Balance at 31 
December 2023

       272.401            3.753          27.739            6.526            4.677        315.096 

Balance at 31 
December 2024

       275.033            2.100          27.698           4.616            5.270        314.717 

Goodwill

Customer 
relati-

onships

Incremental 
costs to 

obtain new 
contracts

Brand 
names

Other 
intangible 

fixed assets Total
EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000
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The majority of the intangible fixed assets is recognized as a result of the purchase price 
allocation of business combinations in prior years. This mainly relates to goodwill, acquired 
customer portfolios, acquired brand names and ‘favourable contracts’ resulting from the 
acquisition of Nuts Groep B.V. in 2017, the Nederlandse Energiemaatschappij B.V., J.A.H. 
Holding B.V. and Energy Global Holding B.V. in 2018 and Robin Mobile Holding B.V. in 2019.  The 
amortization of customer relationships decreased significantly due to the fact that a significant 
part of the customer relationships were fully amortized in January 2024. 

The remaining amortisation period for customer acquisition cost (incremental costs to obtain 
new customer contracts), acquired customer portfolios and brand names is up to 5 years. The 
additions to goodwill in 2024 relates to the acquisition of Fiber Crew Holding B.V. and underlying 
entities and  de Energiebespaarders B.V., reference is made to Note 7(c).

Other intangible assets  as  at 31 December 2024 relate to capitalized cost regarding website and 
IT systems of EUR 5.270 thousand (31 December 2023: EUR 4.667 thousand).

a) Impairment test
The Group identified the following CGUs at the moment of the acquisition of Nuts Groep B.V., 
being Budget Internet (previously Alles-in -1 and renamed in November 2024), Budget Mobiel, 
Budget Energie and Elegant. Because an active market exists for the supply of Electricity and 
Natural gas (Budget Energie), Internet, Television and Telephony (Internet) and SIM-only services 
(Budget Mobiel), separate cash generating units have been identified for these business lines. 
Cash inflows from sale of energy are generated separately for the Netherlands and Belgium. 
As a result, Elegant (Belgium) has been considered a separate CGU as well. For the purpose of 
impairment testing, goodwill has been allocated to these CGU’s.

Similar as prior year the recoverable amount of the CGU’s was based on its value in use, 
determined by discounting the future cash flows to be generated from the continuing use of the 
CGU’s.

The key assumptions used in the estimation of value in use were as follows:

 Budget 
Internet

Budget 
Mobiel

Budget 
Energie

Elegant

2024 percent percent percent percent
Discount rate 8,5% 8,5% 8,0% 9,0% 
Long-term Growth ('LTG') 2,0% 2,0% 2,0% 2,0% 
Long-term EBITDA (% of GM) 47,6% 62,3% 60,0% 62,3%

 Budget 
Internet

Budget 
Mobiel

Budget 
Energie

Elegant

2023 percent percent percent percent
Discount rate 8,5% 8,5% 8,0% 9,0%
Long-term Growth ('LTG') 2,0% 2,0% 2,0% 2,0% 
Long-term EBITDA (% of GM) 27,9% 58,3% 65,0% 66,8% 
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The discount rate was a pre-tax measure based on the higher of the long-term inflation rate 
of the European Central Bank or the yield on German government bonds with a maturity of 
15 years, adjusted for a risk premium to reflect both the increased risk of investing in equities 
generally and the systemic risk of the specific CGU. With regard to the CGU in Belgium, the 
specific country risk premium has been applied.

The cash flow projections are based on the Company’s Business plan EBITDA (3-5 years in 
accordance with the group’s forecast period) and a growth rate for the years thereafter of 2% 
(‘LTG’). Long-term EBITDA % has been included in accordance with the last business plan year. 
Budgeted EBITDA was estimated taking into account past experiences.

The estimated recoverable amount of the CGU exceeded its carrying amount for both 2024 and 
years before.

The discount rate and the long-term growth rate % are the most sensitive factors in determining 
the recoverable amount. The impact of a change of 50 basis points (‘bps’) in both parameters on 
the recoverable amount of each CGU is summarized as follows:

b) Incremental costs to obtain new contracts
These costs are subject to amortization over a five-year period based on a degressive 
amortisation period and the remaining amortisation period is 1,6 years at 31 December 2024 (31 
December 2023: 1,4 years).

 Budget 
Internet

Budget 
Mobiel

Budget 
Energie

Elegant

2024 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000
Increase in discount rate by 
50 bps

(5.022) (9.588) (82.917) (8.192)

Decrease in long term growth 
rate by 50 bps

(4.053) (8.180) (71.365) (6.534)

 Budget 
Internet

Budget 
Mobiel

Budget 
Energie

Elegant

2023 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000
Increase in discount rate by 
50 bps

(4.155) (8.985)  (111.483)  (4.703) 

Decrease in long term growth 
rate by 50 bps

(3.212)  (6.209) (89.853)  (2.920) 

None of the outcomes from the sensitivity analysis above would result in an impairment loss.
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c) Acquisition of subsidiaries
The Group obtained control over the following entities in 2024: 

Fiber Crew Holding B.V. (8 November 2024) – 50.02% 

Fiber Crew engages in the business of roll-out and maintenance of fiber infrastructure. The 
business is executed by the operational entities Ipronto B.V., Jonaz B.V. and Spokkie B.V. The 
Group obtained control over the activities of Fiber Crew Holding B.V. and therefore the balance 
sheet and profit and loss account has been consolidated for 100%, a non-controlling interest is 
accounted for representing the interest held by other shareholders. The non-controlling interests 
recognized at acquisition date amounts to EUR 3.998 thousand and has been measured based on 
the equity value against the shareholdings held by other shareholders (49,98%). 

De Energiebespaarders B.V. and Building Blocks B.V.  (17 April 2024) – 100% 

Energiebespaarders and Building Blocks B.V.  are active in the field of supporting homeowners 
to make their homes more sustainable. The group obtained control over the activities and the 
balance sheet and profit and loss account have been consolidated from the date of acquisition.
  
For further disclosure purposes, these acquisitions are disclosed in aggregate in the following 
tables as they are not regarded as material business combinations.

Consideration transferred
The following table summarizes the acquisition-date fair value of each major class of 
consideration transferred.

 Total
 EUR 1.000

Cash 305
Share contribution 4.000
  
Total 4.305

The consideration also includes the available cash at the acquired entities at the time of the 
acquisition (see also overview below).

Purchase consideration - cash outflow

 Total
 EUR 1.000

Outflow of cash to acquire subsidiary, net of cash 
acquired

305

Less: cash balances acquired 63
  
Net outflow of cash-investing activities 242

Annual report 2024  |  Nuts Topholding B.V. 46 
 

Document to which the KPMG report 3155060 / 25W00197602UTR dated 28 May 2025 also refers.



Acquisition-related costs
The Group incurred acquisition-related costs of EUR 157 thousand relating to legal fees and 
due diligence costs for the acquisitions made in 2024 (2023: EUR nil). These costs expensed 
and are included in note 20.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities recognized
The following table summarizes the recognized amounts at fair value of assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed at the acquisition date.

 Note Total
 EUR 1.000

Property, plant and equipment [6] 342
Right of use Assets [26] 2.572
Intangible assets [7] 412
Deferred tax asset [25] 2.312
Inventories  154
Trade and other receivables [8] 728
Cash and cash equivalents [10] 63
Lease liabilities  [12] (2.572)
Current tax liabilities [14] (22)
Trade and other liabilities [15] (2.316)

Net identifiable assets acquired                          1.673

Add: goodwill 2.632

Net assets acquired 4.305

The gross contractual amount of trade receivables is EUR 568 thousand; the best estimate 
at the acquisition date of the contractual cash flows expected to be collected is EUR 568 
thousand.

Goodwill
Goodwill has been recognized for an amount of EUR 2.632 thousand. 
The goodwill is attributable mainly to the human capital organization, know-how, product 
offerings and the integration opportunities of the business. 

None of the goodwill recognized is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

Revenue and profit or loss since acquisition date
The amounts of revenue and profit or loss (before taxes) included in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income of the Group since acquisition date are summarized 
below.
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 Total
 EUR 1.000

Revenue                                 3.316 
Profit/loss                               (2.061) 

If the acquisitions had occurred on 1 January 2024, management estimates that the acquisitions 
in the Netherlands would have contributed EUR 6.543 thousand of revenue and EUR 3.096 
thousand of loss before tax to the full year result.

8. Trade and other receivables

All trade and other receivables are short term of nature and therefore fully presented as current.
Trade receivables and intercompany receivables with a carrying amount of EUR 5,6 million and 
EUR 203,9 million respectively are pledged as security under the senior credit facility, refer to 
note 12(a) for further information.

a) Credit and market risks, and impairment losses
Information about the Group’s exposure to credit and market risks, and impairment losses for 
trade and other receivables, is included in note 17.

b) Prepaid commodities
The decrease in prepaid commodities over the years is the result of decreased (energy) prices at 
year-end, and switch of supplier for gas with different terms and conditions relating to payment 
and collateral.

Trade receivables       10.933 20.300 
Guarantee deposits and deposit amounts       16.612       56.419 
Prepaid commodities        12.112       14.616 
Vouchers               623         1.275 
Contract assets        35.986       38.490 
Value-added tax receivable               730          1.725 
Energy tax receivable               122                 -   
Accrued assets          1.010          1.766 
Tax receivable          1.234          2.353 
Other receivables          3.245        10.170 
  
Gross amount 82.607       147.114 
 
Allowance for expected credit losses         (4.286)         (7.179) 
   
Net amount 78.321 139.935 

31 
December

2024

31 
December

2023
EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000
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c) Vouchers
These are gift cards are to be issued to new customers, which can be spend at one of the 
Company’s sales channels.

9.	 Derivatives
The Group enters into forward energy purchasing contracts to economically hedge the margin on 
expected sales volumes from fixed rate sales contracts.

The forward energy purchasing contracts do not meet the criteria to apply the own use exemp-
tion under IFRS 9, as the Group incidentally sells forward energy purchasing contracts or sells 
excess volumes purchased on the day ahead or intraday market. These transactions are arising 
from changes in the (expected) sales volumes to customers, for example caused by weather 
conditions or changes in customer behaviour. As the Group does not apply the own use exemp-
tion under IFRS 9, the forward energy purchasing contracts are accounted for as derivates, at fair 
value through profit or loss. Information on the fair value measurement of derivatives is included 
in note 17.

Since the forward purchasing contracts are accounted for as derivatives at FVTPL, the Group 
elected to apply the designation option provided under IFRS 9.2.5, to account for the commodity 
delivery portion of fixed rate sales contracts entered into from 1 January 2023 as accounted for 
as derivative at FVTPL, to offset the fair value of forward purchasing contracts and thereby redu-
ce an accounting mismatch.

Refer to note 17 for further information on fair value measurement.

10.	 Cash and cash equivalents
The cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and bank balances and deposits. All of these assets 
are entirely at the free disposal of the Group, except the short-term deposits which are freely 
disposable shortly after year-end but not on the reporting date. Cash and cash equivalents with a 
carrying amount of EUR 171,3 million are pledged as security under the senior credit facility, refer 
to note 12(a) for further information.

 31 December
2024

31 December
2023

 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000

Cash          68.266          54.409 
Short-term Deposits        113.280        111.378 
   
Total        181.546        165.787 
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11. Equity
a) Share capital
As of 31 December 2024, the Company’s share capital consisted of 1.022.758 ordinary shares 
with a par value of EUR 0,01 (31 December 2023: 1.022.758 ordinary shares with a par value of 
EUR 0,01). Holders of these shares are entitled to dividends as declared from time to time and 
are entitled to one vote per share at general meetings of the Company. All rights attached to the 
Company’s shares held by the Group are suspended until those shares are reissued. All ordinary 
shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

b)	 Share premium
The share premium concerns the income from the issuing of shares in so far as this exceeded 
the nominal value of the shares (above par income) and can be considered as freely distributable 
share premium.

c)	 Dividends
In 2024 EUR 50 million of dividends (EUR 48,89 per share) was declared and paid. 
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12. Loans and borrowings
Reconciliation of the carrying amount:

 Senior 
credit 
facility

Lease 
liabilities

Total

 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000
    
Carrying amount at 1 January 2023 131.721           5.679 137.400 
    
Changes from financing cash flows:    
Repayments (134.421)         (1.836)     (136.257) 
Interest payments         (7.960)              (72)         (8.032) 
    
Subtotal (142.381)         (1.908)     (144.289) 
    
Other movements:    
Accrued interest 10.660                72          

10.732 
Remeasurements                 -             1.266           1.266 
    
Subtotal      10.660           1.338     11.998 
    
Carrying amount at 
31 December 2023

-           5.109           5.109 

Carrying amount at 
1 January 2024

-           5.109           5.109 

Changes from financing cash flows:

Repayments -         (1.948)         (1.948) 
Interest payments -            (105)            (105) 

Subtotal - (2.053)  (2.053)  

Other movements:
Additions -               649               649 
Additions through business combinations - 2.572 2.572 
Disposals -              (19)              (19) 
Accrued interest -               105               105 
Remeasurements -               190               190 

Subtotal - 3.497 3.497

Carrying amount at 31 December 2024 - 6.553 6.553 

Carrying amount at 31 December 2023
Non-current - 3.351 3.351 
Current -           1.758           1.758 
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Carrying amount at 31 December 2024
Non-current - 4.334 4.334 
Current - 2.219 2.219 

a)	 Senior credit facility and revolving facility
In December 2023 the Group refinanced its existing financing arrangements. As part of the 
refinancing, the remaining notional amount of the senior credit facility (EUR 124.5 million) 
was repaid in full, together with interest accrued up to the date of the refinancing. Also, the 
revolving credit facility was cancelled, and accrued commitment fees were paid. As a result of the 
refinancing a loss of EUR 2.0 million was recorded in profit or loss, which relates to the remaining 
balance of unamortised transaction cost at the date of the refinancing.

i) Old (refinanced) facilities
Under the old facilities, the Group received two term loans with a total amount of EUR 151,0 
million and a credit line (‘revolving facility’) to be used by the group of a maximum of EUR 60,0 
million. The interest owed annually on the utilised part of the facility and term loans is based on 
EURIBOR plus a margin between 2,75% to 4,25%. If the EURIBOR rate is less than zero, the rate 
shall be deemed to be zero.

The following covenants were agreed to under the old facilities: two leverage ratios based 
on (normalised) EBITDA and the recognised funds from the facility (‘Leverage’ and ‘Adjusted 
Leverage’) and a debt service coverage ratio (‘Cashflow Cover’). Until refinancing, the Company 
fulfilled the covenants for each quarter.

Under the old facilities, the shares, bank accounts, receivables and the intellectual property of 
Nuts Groep B.V. and Budget Thuis B.V., and the shares, bank accounts and intellectual property 
of Elegant B.V. were pledged to the bank consortium as security.

ii) New facilities
Under the new facilities agreement entered into as part of the refinancing in December 2023, the 
following facilities are available to the Group:
•	 Revolving credit facilities for an aggregate amount of EUR 150.0 million, of which EUR 50.0 

million is available to be drawn in cash and EUR 100.0 million is available to fund bank 
guarantees;

•	 A seasonal revolving credit facility for an amount of EUR 30.0 million, which is only available 
in a certain period each year;

•	 A term loan facility for an amount of the greater of (i) EUR 50.0 million and (ii) a multiple of 
Adjusted EBITDA, as defined in the facilities agreement, and as determined upon utilisation of 
the term loan facility.

The facilities are available to the Group for an initial period of 5 years (expiring in December 
2028), with an option to extend twice by one year. Under the facilities agreement, the Group 
incurs a commitment fee for unused commitments under the revolving credit facilities and 
seasonal revolving credit facility.

As of 31 December 2024, a portion of the facilities is used to fund bank guarantees to energy 
suppliers, see note 28(a) for further information. 

The Group incurred an amount of EUR 1.8 million of arrangement fees and other incremental 
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costs, which are capitalised as other fixed asset and amortised on a straight-line basis over the 
initial term of the new facilities agreement.

If amounts are drawn under any of the facilities, the interest incurred by the Group will be based 
on EURIBOR plus a margin. If the relevant EURIBOR-rate is below zero, it will be deemed zero. 
The margin for amounts drawn under the revolving credit facilities and seasonal revolving credit 
facility is fixed in the facilities agreement and will be determined for term loans drawn under the 
term loan facility upon utilisation.

In the new facilities agreement, financial covenants are agreed, which consist of an interest 
coverage ratio and a minimum adjusted EBITDA level. The Group complied to the financial 
covenants at each relevant date and expects to continue to do so after reporting date.

The Group pledged, as securities to the lenders, bank accounts, intercompany receivables and 
trade receivables held by Nuts Holding B.V., Nuts Groep B.V., Budget Thuis B.V. and Nuts Direct 
Sales Holding B.V., as well as receivables and bank accounts held by Elegant B.V.. The carrying 
amounts of the pledged items are included in the relevant notes.

b) 	 Lease liabilities
Refer to note 26 for further information on leases.

13. Provisions
Reconciliation of the carrying amount:

 Onerous 
contracts

Claims and 
litigations

Total

 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000

Carrying amount at 1 January 2023      190.353  500       190.853   
    
Releases  (190.353) - (190.353) 
    
Carrying amount at 31 December 2023  - 500 500
    
Carrying amount at 1 January 2024  - 500 500
    
Releases - (500)  (500)   
    
Carrying amount at 31 December 2024 - - -
    
Carrying amount at 31 December 2023    
Non-current - - -
Current - 500 500
    
Carrying amount at 31 December 2024    
Non-current  - - -   
Current  - - -

a) Onerous contracts
An onerous contract provision is recognised for fixed rate sales contracts, if these contracts are 
expected to be onerous. As the Group’s forward energy purchasing contracts are accounted for 
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at FVTPL, the assessment whether a fixed rate sales contract is considered to be an onerous 
contract, is based on market prices at the reporting date, instead of the contracted purchasing 
rates.

The provision for onerous contracts is calculated by taking the difference between the contracted 
(fixed) sales prices and the commodity purchasing market price at the reporting date, multiplied 
by the expected sales volume under the fixed price sales contracts for the remaining contractual 
term (including expected renewals). The portion of the calculated amount which relates to the 
expected sales volumes within the next twelve months from reporting date is presented as 
current, the remainder is presented as non-current.

No provision is required as of 31 December 2024, as the sales prices exceeds the market 
(purchase) price of energy.

b) Claims and litigations
Previously the  provision for claims and litigations related to a litigation initiated by a third party. 
During 2024 it became clear that claim did not materialize, as a result the provision has been 
released. 

14. Current tax liabilities

 31 December
2024

31 December
2023

 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000

Value-added tax          38.993 42.163
Wage tax               438 562
Energy tax          19.555 2.120
Corporate income tax            4.673 14.031

Total 63.659          58.876 

All current tax liabilities are short term of nature and therefore fully presented as current.

15. Trade and other payables

 31 December
2024

31 December
2023

 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000

Debts to suppliers and trade creditors          63.923          56.623 
Payable to grid operators          40.955          37.809 
Accrued cost of supplies and services          72.534          72.578 
Government compensation payables               203            4.662 
Other payables and accrued liabilities          15.748          11.993 
   
Total 193.363        183.665 
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All trade and other payables are short term of nature and therefore fully presented as current.

The accrued cost of supplies and services mainly consists of amounts payable to grid operators 
and commodity suppliers.

16. Contract liabilities
Reconciliation of the carrying amount:

 Amounts 
received in 

advance

Cashback Total

 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000

Carrying amount at 1 January 2023         311.970 18.497 330.467 
    
Additions 264.198            9.629        273.827 
Utilization (311.970)       (17.449)     (329.419) 
   
Carrying amount at 31 December 2023      264.198 10.677 274.875 
    
Carrying amount at 1 January 2024      264.198 10.677 274.875 
    
Additions 193.337          20.693        214.030 
Utilization (264.198)       (13.370)     (277.568) 
    
Carrying amount at 31 December 2024 193.337          18.000        211.337 
    
Carrying amount at 31 December 2023    
Non-current -   1.655   1.655   
Current 264.198          9.022        273.220 
    
Carrying amount at 31 December 2024    
Non-current -                   31                 31 
Current 193.337          17.969        211.306 

Amounts received in advance consist of:
•	 Amounts received from customers with respect to supply of energy and services after 

reporting date; and
•	 Amounts repayable to customers resulting from monthly prepayments exceeding the value 

of energy supplied and services rendered. These amounts will either be settled against the 
supply of energy and services after reporting date or repaid via the annual settlement with 
the customer.

The cashbacks that are paid at the end of a completed contract and accrued for on a monthly 
basis over the length of the contract (e.g. one-twelfth in the case of a one-year contract) and 
adjusted for an estimated churn rate.
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17. Financial instruments – fair values and risk management
a) Accounting classifications and fair values
The following table shows the carrying amount and fair value of financial assets and financial 
liabilities, including their levels in the fair value hierarchy. Fair value information for financial 
instruments not measured at fair value is excluded from the table if the carrying amount is a 
reasonable approximation of the instruments fair value.

31 December 2024  Fair value

 Carrying 
amount

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial 
instruments 
measured at fair 
value

EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000

      
Derivatives - assets 55.875 55.875 -   - 55.875
Derivatives - liabilities (55.611) (24.192) -   (31.419) (55.611)
      
Total 264 31.683 -   (31.419) 264
      

31 December 2023  Fair value
 Carrying 

amount
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial 
instruments 
measured at fair 
value

EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000

      
Derivatives - assets 76.829 26.402                 -   50.427    76.829 
Derivatives - liabilities    (80.029)    (80.029)              -                  -    (80.029) 
      
Total (3.200) (53.627)  - 50.427 (3.200) 

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair values
The following table shows a reconciliation from the opening balances to the closing balances for 
Level 3 fair values.

Level 3 fair values EUR 1.000
Balance at 1 January 2023 (127.723)

Net change in fair value (unrealised)   178.150
Balance at 31 December 2023 50.427

Net change in fair value (unrealised)   (81.846)
Balance at 31 December 2024 (31.419)
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b) Measurement of fair values
i) Valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs

The following paragraphs explain valuation techniques used in measuring Level 2 and Level 3 fair 
values, for financial instruments measured at fair value in the statement of financial position, as 
well as the significant unobservable inputs used. Related valuation processes are described in 
note 2(d).

Financial instruments measured at fair value
The valuation models used in determining the fair value of derivatives are based on a market 
approach, as measurement is primarily based on market prices at reporting date. 

The derivatives accounted for as of 31 December 2024, for which the fair value measurement is 
classified as level 3, are related to sales contracts with customers for which the Group elected 
to apply the option to designate the accounting for these contracts as at FVTPL (refer also to 
note 9). As sales contracts with customers never include firm volume commitments, estimation 
of volumes to be delivered under the sales contracts is required. The Group estimates volumes 
to be delivered under the sales contracts by taking a customer’s standard annual usage 
(standaardjaarverbruik) which is based on historical meter reading data and determined by an 
external party. The standard annual usage is adjusted for weather conditions expected in the 
future impacting a customer’s usage.

Sensitivity analysis
For the fair values of the financial instruments, reasonably possible changes at the reporting 
date to one of the significant unobservable inputs, holding other inputs constant, would have no 
effects on the assets, liabilities and Profit or Loss.

c) Financial risk management
i) Risk management framework
Management has the overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the group’s risk 
management. It considers (commodity) market risk, interest and cash flow risk, credit risk and 
liquidity risk (including long-tail risk) as the group’s most substantial risks. The group’s customers 
are provided the option to purchase energy and telecom contracts. The group enters into 
forward energy supply contracts to hedge contractual agreed volumes against changes in market 
prices back-to-back as much is possible. The group does not engage in any speculative activities 
nor trading of these forward agreements nor does it apply hedge accounting.

ii) (Commodity) market risk and own use
The group sells fixed-price energy supply contracts with a duration of 1,2 and 3 years and 
energy supply contracts with a variable price and duration. The group is therefore committed 
to supply energy in future periods at a fixed price. The group hedges the risk of commodity 
market prices increases by entering into forward energy purchasing contracts. The group aims 
to hedge 100% of the expected sales volumes under fixed price contracts. In other words, the 
margin on a fixed-price contract is fixed at or around the time of the conclusion of that contract, 
and the commodity price risk is thereby almost entirely covered. In case a customer would early 
terminates its contract a termination penalty equal to the fair market value of the contract is 
applicable.

The sole purpose of forward energy purchasing contracts is to actually obtain gas and electricity 
in accordance with the customers’ expected consumption. On a daily basis reports will be made 
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available to the board about the position of the company with regard to future obligations. The 
group has no proprietary trading activities.  

iii) Interest and cash flow risk
The group is limited exposed to interest rate risk on interest-bearing financial instruments as 
currently no cash  amounts are drawn under the loan facilities. The interest applicable for the 
guarantee facility are limited. The group is exposed to a fair value risk with regard to fixed-
income receivables and debts.

iv) Credit risk
The group is exposed to credit risk on loans and receivables recognised as trade receivables, 
other receivables and cash and cash equivalents. The maximum credit risk to which the group is 
exposed, is summarized as follows:

 Carrying amount at
 31 December 

2024
31 December 

2023
 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000
 
   
Trade receivables (gross)           10.933          20.300 
Guarantee deposits and deposit amounts           16.612          56.419 
Contract assets           35.986          38.490 
Corporate income taxes             1.234            2.353 
Value added taxes                730            1.725 
Energy taxes                122                 -   
Other receivables             3.245          10.170 
Cash and cash equivalents         181.546        165.787 
   
Total         250.408         295.244 

The group’s trade receivables and contract assets consist of a large number of small balances. As 
a result, the concentration of credit risk is very limited.

Trading in energy futures involves counterparty risk. The risk is mitigated either by making 
use of two-way daily margining (for example, by means of Bank clearing) or by working with 
creditworthy suppliers (S&P AA+ and BBB+).
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The maximum credit risk to which the group is exposed by geographic region, is summarized as 
follows:

 Carrying amount at
 31 December 

2024
31 December 

2023
 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000
 
The Netherlands         189.872        246.101 
Belgium           60.536          49.143 
   
Total 250.408        295.244 
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The Group uses an allowance matrix to measure the ECLs on trade receivables from individual 
customers, which comprise a very large number of small balances. Loss rates are calculated 
using a method based on the probability of a receivable based on the following common credit 
risk characteristics – type of contract with customer, loss experience based on an average of the 
preceding years and ageing of the outstanding debtors also in relation to the accrued revenue to 
be invoiced. The allowance for expected credit losses is summarized as follows:

 Gross
carrying
amount

Allowance
for ECLs

Net
carrying
amount

 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000

Balance at 31 December 2024    
Current (not past due)         237.770            (246)       237.524 
1 - 30 days past due             2.083            (313)           1.770 
31 - 60 days past due             1.496            (233)           1.263 
61 - 90 days past due             1.409            (242)           1.167 
More than 90 days past due             7.650         (3.252)           4.398 
    
Total         250.408         (4.286)       246.122 

 Gross
carrying
amount

Allowance
for ECLs

Net
carrying
amount

 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000

Balance at 31 December 2023    
Current (not past due)        275.866            (412)      275.454 
1 - 30 days past due            4.958            (524)          4.434 
31 - 60 days past due            2.052            (391)          1.661 
61 - 90 days past due            1.642            (405)          1.237 
More than 90 days past due          10.726         (5.447)          5.279 
    
Total        295.244         (7.179)      288.065 

The movement in the allowance for expected credit losses in respect of trade receivables and 
contract assets during the year was as follows:

 2024 2023
 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000
   
Carrying amount at 1 January          (7.179)       (10.876) 
   
Additions/releases (through profit or loss)             (904)            1.293 
Use of allowance             3.797            2.404 
   
Total          (4.286)         (7.179) 
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v)	 Liquidity risk
The financing of the activities of Nuts Topholding B.V. and its subsidiaries is arranged centrally 
at group level. Individual companies within the group are financed with a combination of equity, 
supplier credit and intercompany loans. The group has access to a credit facility in the form of 
regular credit and a seasonal credit facility. The group monitors its expected liquidity position for 
the coming 12 months on a daily basis. To do this, it uses a liquidity model developed over the 
years. All major liquidity drivers are included in this model and the board is able to simulate the 
development of the cash position under various (extreme) scenarios. 

A harsh winter, strongly fluctuating energy prices or a changing tax regime may negatively affect 
the group’s cash position. With the model mentioned above and the credit facility, the board is 
able to make adjustments in a timely manner.

The following table summarizes the remaining undiscounted contractual cash outflows of the 
group’s financial instruments.

Undiscounted contractual cash flows, due in

Carrying
amount

Total 2 months 
or less 

3 to 12 
months

 1 to 5 
Years

More than 
5 years

EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000  EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000
Balance at 31 
December 2024
Lease liabilities 6.553 6.918              543         1.917         4.458 -
Trade and other 
payables

193.363 193.363 193.363               -                 -   - 

Derivative financial 
instruments 

55.611 308.485 126.160     117.427       64.898 - 

   
Total 255.527 508.766 320.066     119.344       69.356  -

      
      
 Undiscounted contractual cash flows, due in

Carrying 
amount

Total 2 months 
or less

3 to 12 
months

1 to 5 
Years

 More 
than 5 
years

EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 
Balance at 31 
December 2023
Lease liabilities        5.109 5.262 427 1.404 3.431 - 
Trade and other 
payables

183.665 183.665 183.665               -              -   - 

Derivative financial 
instruments 

80.029 281.705 156.728 88.881 36.096 - 

      
Total 268.803 470.632 340.820 90.285 39.527 - 

As disclosed in note 12, the Group is party to a facility agreement that contains loan covenants. 
A future breach of covenants may require the Group to repay early amounts drawn under the 
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facility agreement (if any). Under the agreement, the covenants are monitored on a regular basis 
by management to ensure compliance with the agreement. At 31 December 2024 the company is 
in compliance with the required covenants.

18.	 Operating income
The Group generates revenue from the delivery of energy and telecom services to households 
and small and medium-sized enterprises. The revenues can be specified as follows:

For the year ended
 31 December 

2024
31 December

2023
 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000
   
Revenue from contracts with customers   
Supply of energy        658.475        798.775 
Sales of internet          56.263          54.010 
Sales mobile data          43.340          40.893 
Other revenue          12.625            7.463 
   
Subtotal        770.703        901.141 
   
Other income   
Government compensation - 98.906    
   
Subtotal -          98.906 
   
Total        770.703     1.000.047 

a) Revenue from contracts with customers
Other revenue relates to various revenues streams for example customer breaching fees, 
collection fees and minor revenues from smaller group companies. 
 
i)	 Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
In the following table, revenue from contracts with customers is disaggregated by primary 
geographical market and timing of revenue recognition.

For the year ended
 31 December 

2024
31 December

2023
 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000
   
Primary geographical market   
The Netherlands        676.638        807.089 
Belgium          94.065          94.052 
   
Total        770.703     901.141  
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The revenue generated in Belgium relates only to the supply of energy and related other 
revenues (such as breaching fees).

For the year ended
 31 December 

2024
31 December

2023
 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000
   
Timing of revenue recognition   
Performance obligations fulfilled over time        770.551        833.096 
Performance obligations fulfilled at a point in time               152          68.045 

Total        770.703        901.141 

The decrease in revenue recognised at a point in time is caused by transactions done on the 
spot market. In 2023 there were spot market sale transactions and in 2024 these were mainly 
purchase transactions.

ii) Contract balances
The following table provides information about the gross balances of trade receivables, contract 
assets and contract liabilities from contracts with customers, excluding allowances for expected 
credit losses.

For the year ended
 31 December 

2024
31 December

2023
 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000
   
Receivables          10.933          20.300 
Contract assets          35.986          38.490 
Incremental costs to obtain new contracts          27.698          27.739 
Contract liabilities     (211.337)     (274.875) 
   
Net balance     (136.720)     (188.346) 

The contract assets, includes supplies yet to be settled concerning gas and electricity, which are 
transferred to receivables when the rights become unconditional. This usually occurs when the 
Group issues an invoice to the customer in the following year.

The incremental costs to obtain new contracts are classified as intangible fixed assets in the 
Group’s statement of financial position, see also note 7.

The contract liabilities relate to amounts received in advance for energy supplies and to be 
settled with customers in the next year that are fully recognised as revenue in the next year (see 
note 16).
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iii)	 Performance obligations and revenue recognition policies
Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer. The 
Group recognizes its energy revenue based on the client’s energy usage which is invoiced via 
instalments on a monthly basis via instalments. Final settlement will be done after a period of 12 
months.  

The following paragraphs provides information about the nature and timing of the satisfaction 
of performance obligations in contracts with customers and the related revenue recognition 
policies. 

Supply of energy: Electricity and Gas
Based on the criteria that the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the electricity and 
Gas delivered by the Group, a single performance obligation has been identified that is satisfied 
over time. The related costs are recognized in profit or loss when they are incurred.

The amount of revenue to recognize is dependent on a progress of measurement which is (1) the 
time elapsed for the contractual fixed fees in the contract, irrespective of usage (i.e. fixed part 
of the consideration which is charged even when no electricity or gas is consumed) and (2) the 
actual consumption of electricity and gas.

The transaction price for delivery of electricity and gas is calculated based on the purchase prices 
and a surcharge for services provided. The transaction price is determined to be fixed from 
hour to hour with a variable component related to the actual consumption of electricity. For the 
continuously metered customers, no estimation is required. For the non-continuously metered 
customers however, an estimation of usage will be made based on historical data and other 
available relevant data, like energy labels. The uncertainty will be resolved through the annual 
settlement (which will always take place within 12 months after year-end date).

The Dutch government has enacted a netting arrangement (‘salderingsregeling’) for small scale 
users. If the customer has solar panels which deliver the electricity to the grid, the company 
is required to pay the customer for any excess of (estimated) electricity used or net the total 
amount of energy delivered to the customer and the total amount produced by the customer 
over the period of the contract. As per year-end date, an estimation is made regarding the 
‘saldering’ pattern over the remaining contract period of the Company’s customer base. This is 
based on historical data. The Company’s uses this approach to avoid any disruptive amounts as 
per year-end date due to seasonal timing of the effects of saldering – in the winter the customers 
normally do not deliver back any surplus of their solar panels. This means that the netting 
arrangement is interpreted and processed as a variable consideration – the ‘purchase price’ of 
the excessed electricity cannot be determined.

The transaction price includes additional elements such as the Stand-ready obligation and 
imbalance charges for both countries that are included in the income statement as the amounts 
are received by the Group on its own account. Amounts received by the Group on behalf of third 
parties are not recognized as revenue. This relates to charges included in the transaction price 
for network costs, for energy taxes and for other indirect taxes depending on local rules and 
requirements per country the Group is operating in (see below the Group acting as agent).
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Telecom (mobile & bundled) services 
The telecom services of the Company consist of the Mobile services from Budget Mobiel and 
the television/internet services from Budget Internet. As part of the telecom services three 
performance obligations have been identified. The telecom services provided and additional 
usage that can be purchased by clients are satisfied over time. Incentives that are provided 
related to free or discounted products or services are satisfied at a point-in-time at the moment 
when there is a transfer of control. The related costs are recognized in profit or loss when they 
are incurred. 

The telecom services amount of revenue to recognize is dependent on (1) the fixed fees in the 
contract, irrespective of the consumption of services and (2) the actual consumption of additional 
usage/services provided over the time of the contract.  

The price for the telecom services consists of a fixed fee based on the contract that has been 
agreed with the client. Discounts and other incentives are treated in a similar manner and are 
included in the transaction price over time, whereas promised goods are included in services 
transferred at a point in time. Additional usage purchased by customers are added to the fixed 
fee over the period of the contract. 

Finally, activation fees received and settled are recognized over the duration of the contract.

The Group acting as agent
In certain cases, the Group does not act as a principal towards the customer, but rather as an 
agent. This relates to contracts to pass through feed-in tariffs on the supply of renewable energy 
or the grid fees, invoiced by the energy supplier on behalf of the grid company (‘grid charges’). 
According to Dutch and Belgium energy law, the supplier of energy also invoices the use of the 
network to the customer, on behalf of the grid companies. Due to the nature of the contracts 
between the supplier and grid companies, these amounts are not recognised in the income 
statement. Invoiced amounts are settled with the grid companies on a monthly statement.

b) Other income
The Government compensation recognised as other income is related to the Subsidieregeling 
bekostiging plafond energietarieven (‘CEK 23’). This grant compensates the Group for the full 
effect of a price cap imposed by the Dutch government, effective for delivery of power and gas 
to small-scale users in calendar year 2023. Under the price cap, the rate payable by a customer 
for power and gas is capped at a certain amount for a certain volume, the government grant 
compensates the Group for the full difference between the contracted sales rate and the cap 
rate. If the volume delivered to the customer exceeds the volume of the price cap, the customer 
has to pay the full (contracted) rate. The Group complies with the conditions of the government 
compensation.

In addition to the compensation of the effect of the price cap, the Group received in 2023 a 
compensation of EUR 6.2 million, to cover the additional cost incurred by the Group for execution 
of the price cap.

In 2024 no governmental compensation was provided. 
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19.	 Costs of energy and other utilities
The cost of energy and other utilities relates to the purchases of energy and other utilities from 
third parties.

20.	 Costs of outsourced work and other external costs

For the year ended
 31 December 

2024
31 December

2023
 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000
   
General expenses          24.038          28.507 
Housing costs               947            1.072 
IT costs            5.681            4.771 
Management fee               183               461 
Sales expenses          10.346          15.439 
   
Total          41.195          50.250 

21. Employee benefit expenses

For the year ended
 31 December 

2024
31 December

2023
 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000
   
Wages and salaries          26.562          20.633 
Social security contributions            3.524            2.573 
Pension charges            1.551               753 
   
Total          31.637          23.959 

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the average number of staff employed by the group, 
measured in full-time equivalents (‘FTE’) is specified as follows:

For the year ended
 31 December 

2024
31 December

2023
 FTE FTE
   
Customer service 140,5 139,0 
Marketing and sales 77,5 84,2 
Staff positions 186,3 123,1 
   
Total 404,3  346,3
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, on average 26,1 FTE were employed outside The 
Netherlands (year ended 31 December 2023: 23,6).

22. Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of tangible and intangible 
fixed assets

For the year ended
 31 December 

2024
31 December

2023
 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000
   
Depreciation   
Vehicles               301               237 
Offices            1.572            1.469 
Other fixed assets               636               797 
   
Subtotal            2.509            2.503 
   
Amortisation   
Customer relationships            1.653            7.792 
Incremental costs to obtain new contracts          15.060          17.277 
Brand names            1.910            1.910 
Other intangible fixed assets            1.783            1.822 
   
Subtotal          20.406          28.801 
   
Total 22.915 31.304 

23. Other operating expenses

For the year ended
 31 December 

2024
31 December

2023
 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000
   
Other personnel costs            2.556            2.286 
Charity contributions            3.223                 -   
Car costs               188               141 
Collection costs (income)            (195)                 26 
   
Total 5.772            2.453 
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24. Net finance costs

For the year ended
 31 December 

2024
31 December

2023
 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000
   
Interest income   
Cash equivalents            2.795 4.716
Deposits held at suppliers               482 1.750
Other                 81            469 
   
Subtotal            3.358            6.935 
   
Interest expense   
Senior credit facility         (1.740)       (10.660) 
Lease liabilities            (105)              (72) 
Other            (107)               (122) 
   
Subtotal (1.952)        (10.854) 
   
Net finance income/(expense) 1.406         (3.919) 

In the year ended 31 December 2023 2.0 million was recognised in the interest expenses on the 
senior credit facility related to the refinancing executed in December 2023, refer to note 12(a) for 
further information.
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25. Income taxes
Amounts recognised in profit or loss can be explained as follows:

For the year ended
 31 December 

2024
31 December

2023
 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000
   
Current income tax income/(expense)   
Current year       (16.445) (17.863)
Prior years               988 2.228
   
Subtotal (15.457)       (15.635) 
   
Deferred income tax income/(expense)   
Origination and reversal of temporary differences            (229)         8.986 
Recognition of previously unrecognised tax losses                 -                 246 
Recognition of previously unrecognised (derecognition of 
previously recognised) deductible temporary differences

           (362)         (1.067) 

   
Subtotal            (591)          8.165 
  
Total income tax income/(expense)       (16.048) (7.470) 
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a) Reconciliation of effective tax rate

 For the year ended
31 December 2024

For the year ended
31 December 2023

 percent EUR 1.000 percent EUR 1.000

Profit/(loss) before tax  74.382       42.666  
    
Tax using the Company's domestic 
tax rate

       (25,8%)       (19.191)        (25,8%)       (11.008) 

Effect of tax rates in foreign 
jurisdictions

           0,1% 92            0,2%                85   

     
Tax effect of:     
- Non-deductible expenses                 -                (24)          (0,1%)              (23) 
- Application of innovation box            3,8%           2.849            7,9%           3.378 
Recognition of previously unrecognised 
tax losses

                -                   -              1,0%              426 

     
Other            0,1% 226          (0,7%)            (328) 
     
Tax income/(expense) recorded in 
profit or loss

       (21.8%) (16.048)        (17,5%)         (7.470) 
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b) Movement in deferred tax balances

For the year ended  Carrying amount at 31 December

31 December 2024 Net balance

at 1 January

Recognised 

in profit 

or loss

Acquired in

Business 

Combination 

Net Deferred

tax asset

Deferred

tax liability

EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000
     

Intangible assets        (8.611)             1.346                   -   (7.265)              -         (7.265) 

Right-of-use assets        (1.301)              (362)                   -           (1.663)              -         (1.663) 
Lease liabilities           1.318                365                   -              1.683         1.683               -   
Expected credit losses        (1.357)           (1.123)                   -           (2.480)              -         (2.480) 
Derivatives              826              (894)                   -   (68) 14.348 (14.416) 
Borrowing cost                 -                (361)                   -               (361)              -            (361) 
Tax losses carried forward           1.633                   -               2.312            3.945         3.945               -   
Other           (407)                438                   -                   31              31               -   
      
Total        (7.899) (591)             2.312 (6.178)       20.007 (26.185) 
      
Set-off of tax       (17.150)    17.150 
      
Net tax asset/(liability)            2.857       (9.035) 

For the year ended  Carrying amount at 31 December

31 December 2023 Net balance

at 1 January

Recognised in 

profit 

or loss

Net Deferred

tax asset

Deferred

tax liability

EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000
     

Intangible assets      (11.014)             2.403              (8.611)              -         (8.611) 

Right-of-use assets        (1.425)                124              (1.301)              -         (1.301) 
Lease liabilities           1.582              (264)                1.318         1.318               -   
Expected credit losses           2.720           (4.077)                (1.357)                -       (1.357)   
Derivatives      (58.181)           59.007                   826            826               -   
Onerous contract provision         49.111         (49.111)                      -                -                 -   
Tax losses carried forward              994                639                1.633         1.633               -   
Other              149              (556)                (407)              -        (407)
      
Total      (16.064)           8.165              (7.899)         3.777   (11.676) 
      
Set-off of tax         (3.209)         3.209 
      
Net tax asset/(liability)               568       (8.467) 

The company has assessed the expected impact of the Pillar 2 - global minimum top-up tax - and 
expects no impact due to the local effective tax rate that is higher than 15% and the entity has 
not paid any pillar 2 top-up tax on behalf of other entities in the group. Also, no pillar 2 top-up tax 
has been recharged to the entity.
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The Group has applied a temporary mandatory relief from deferred tax accounting for the 
impacts of the top-up tax and accounts for it as a current tax when it is incurred. 

26. Leases
The Group leases a number of offices facilities, lease lines and cars. The car leases typically run 
for a period up to 4 years, whereas the office facilities run for a period of around 5 years. Only 
the office facilities leases have an option to renew the lease after that date. Lease payments 
for the office facilities are renegotiated every five years to reflect market rentals. Some leases 
provide for additional rent payments that are based on changes in local price indices. Lease lines 
are related to the glass fiber lines leased for providing internet connections. These contracts have 
usually a duration of 2-5 years. The Group did not enter any sub-lease arrangements.

The Group leases IT equipment with contract terms of one to three years. These leases are short-
term and/or leases of low-value items. The Group has elected not to recognize right-of-use assets 
and lease liabilities for these leases. Information about leases for which the Group is a lessee is 
presented below.

Extension options
Some property leases contain extension options exercisable by the Group up to one year before 
the end of the non-cancellable contract period. Where practicable, the Group seeks to include 
extension options in new leases to provide operational flexibility. The extension options held 
are exercisable only by the Group and not by the lessors. The Group assesses at the lease 
commencement date whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the extension options. The 
Group reassesses whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the options if there is a significant 
event or significant changes in circumstances within its control.

The Group has estimated that the potential future lease payments, should it exercise the 
extension option, would not result in an increase in lease liability considering that the extension 
options have already been reflected in the determining the liability.
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a) Right-of-use assets
Right-of-use assets related to leased properties that do not meet the definition of investment 
property are presented as property, plant and equipment. The movement in the carrying amount 
is summarized as:

 Vehicles Offices Fiber Lines Total

 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000

Carrying amount at 1 January 2023               507            5.016                 -              5.523 
Additions               195               411                 -                 606 

Depreciation            (237)         (1.469)                 -           (1.706) 
Remeasurements              (40)               671                 -                 631 
Other              (12)                 -                   -                (12) 
    
Carrying amount at 31 December 2023 413            4.629 -            5.042 

Carrying amount at 1 January 2024               413            4.629                 -              5.042 
Acquisitions through business 

combinations

               236            2.336            2.572 

Additions               589                 60                 -                 649 
Disposals              (14)              (36)                 -                (50) 
Depreciation            (301)         (1.572)              (84)         (1.957) 
Remeasurements                 -                 190                 -                 190 
Other                 -                   -                   -                   -   

 
Carrying amount at 31 December 2024               687            3.507            2.252            6.446 

b) Lease liabilities
Refer to note 12 for a reconciliation of the Group’s lease liabilities.

c) Amounts recognised in profit or loss

For the year ended
 31 December 

2024
31 December

2023
 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000
   
Depreciation of right-of-use assets           1.957     1.706   
Interest expense on lease liabilities              105            72   
   
Total           2.062      1.778   
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d) Cash flows related to leases

For the year ended
 31 December 

2024
31 December

2023
 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000
   
Interest payments            (105)      (72)   
Repayments of lease liabilities         (1.948)    (1.836)   
   
Total         (2.053)       (1.908)   

27. Contingencies & commitments
a) Guarantees

As of the reporting date, the group has provided the following bank guarantees:

For the year ended
 31 December 

2024
31 December

2023
 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000
   
Guarantees to energy suppliers          97.029          84.679 
Guarantees related to office building leases              406               415
   
Total          97.435          85.094 

The guarantees to energy suppliers as of 31 December 2024, are funded by the facilities 
agreement (refer to note 12(a)) for an amount of EUR 97 million).

b) Fiscal unity
Within the group, the following fiscal unities exist:
•	 Fiscal unity for corporate income tax consisting of Nuts Holding B.V., Nuts Groep B.V., Budget 

Energie B.V., Budget Thuis B.V. and Nuts Direct Sales Holding B.V. This fiscal unity is headed 
by Nuts Holding B.V. in 2024 Comtree Client Communication Center B.V. was added to the 
fiscal unity. 

•	 Fiscal unity for corporate income tax consisting of Energy Global Holding B.V., Energy Global 
Advies B.V. and Energy Global Handel B.V. This fiscal unity is headed by Energy Global Holding 
B.V.

•	 Fiscal unity for value added tax, consisting of Nuts Holding B.V., Nuts Groep B.V., 
Budget Energie B.V., Budget Thuis B.V., Nuts Direct Sales Holding B.V., Comtree Client 
Communication Center B.V. 

•	 Fiscal unity for value added tax consisting of Energy Global Holding B.V., Energy Global Advies 
B.V. and Energy Global Handel B.V.

For each fiscal unity, all member entities are jointly and severally liable for the tax liability of the 
fiscal unity as a whole.
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c) Purchasing commitments
The expected cash outflows related to the group’s forward energy purchasing contracts are 
included in note 17(v).

d) Other contingencies
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the statement of financial position if the timing and 
amount is not reliably measurable. Management recognizes provisions in cases where it believes 
an obligation exists and this can be judged with a reasonable degree of certainty. 

In a case against Vattenfall the Amsterdam Court of appeal has held that the price modification 
clause in the general conditions used by most of the industry (including Budget Energie) was 
invalid. The case has received media attention. The Vattenfall Case is currently under appeal at 
the Supreme Court. Budget Energie is not a party to this case. Both the factual and legal situation 
of Budget Energie differ substantially from that of Vattenfall, as Budget Energie used different 
contracts and applied a different pricing strategy as Vattenfall did. To date Budget Energy has 
received only a very limited number of complaints/claims. No awards have been made against 
Budget Energie. Based on our assessment, including the uncertainty on the outcome of the 
Vattenfall case, no provision has been recorded as at 31 December 2024.

Additionally, the company has a contingent liability, related to tax duties. Since the impact cannot 
be reliably determined, the liability is not recognized in the statement of financial position. The 
best estimate of the company is that the maximum impact of the contingent liability will be EUR 
4.400 thousand. The minimum impact will be zero.

Declarations of liability have been issued for the subsidiaries Nuts Groep B.V., Nuts Holding B.V., 
Budget Thuis B.V., Budget Energie B.V. and Nuts Direct Sales Holding B.V. pursuant to Article 
2:403 Dutch Civil Code.

28. Related parties
a) Transactions with key management personnel
i) Key management personnel compensation
Key management personnel compensation comprised of short-term employee benefits for an 
amount of EUR 847 thousand for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: EUR 632 thousand). 
This amount also consists of the emoluments, including pension costs as referred to in Section 
2:383(1) of the Dutch Civil Code, charged in the financial year to the Company, its subsidiaries 
and consolidated other companies for managing (executive) directors and former managing 
directors. Supervisory board members did not receive remuneration. 

For the year ended
 31 December 

2024
31 December

2023
 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000
   
Short term employee benefits               620               632 
Post employment benefits                 20                   -   
Other benefits 207 -
   
Total               847               632 
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ii) Share-based payments
Following the acquisition of Nuts Groep B.V. in 2017, certain board members and eligible 
employees of the Group have been provided the opportunity to participate indirectly in the 
share capital of Nuts Topholding B.V. These indirect share investments are held via a foundation 
(“Stichting Administratiekantoor”), which has issued Depositary Receipts (“DRs”) to the eligible 
persons. This participation plan is classified as an equity-settled share-based payment 
arrangement. An eligible person who is leaving the Group is obliged to offer all the DRs held 
to a shareholder of the Company. If the employee is leaving the group within three years after 
purchasing the DRs, the price will be equal to a percentage of the fair market value at the leaver 
date ranging from 60% in the first year after purchasing of the DRs to 80% in the third year after 
purchasing. An eligible person leaving after three years will be entitled to the fair market value 
for all DRs held. Since the Company and the Company’s subsidiaries do not have an obligation 
to repurchase the DRs from an eligible person or to otherwise settle these awards in cash, the 
participation plan is classified as an equity-settled share-based payment arrangement. Key 
management that indirectly invested in DRs the Company paid at least the actual fair value of 
the shares at the respective grant date. As the Company’s shares are not listed, management 
need to estimate the fair value of the shares when key management indirectly acquire DRs 
in the Company. On each subsequent grant date, the fair market value of the Company’s DRs 
has been estimated taking into account relevant valuation parameters available as well as the 
Company’s development in the respective period. Provided that the eligible persons paid at least 
the estimated fair market value of the underlying DRs in the Company at the grant date, the fair 
value of those share-based payment awards is nil. The share-based payment expense recognised 
for the Company’s equity-settled management participation plan amounts to nil for the year 
ended December 2024 (2023: nil).

b) Other related party transactions
A group company is party to a trading agreement with an entity affiliated to key management 
personnel of that group company, under which the affiliated entity is allowed to execute trading 
activities via the trading platforms and licenses of the Group, with the sole purpose of realising 
trading profits by benefitting from short term price fluctuations in the Dutch and Belgian power 
market. The affiliated entity pays trading fees (consisting of a fixed and variable portion) which 
are commensurate with the pricing of similar services provided to third parties. The trading 
profits are settled in full for the benefit of the affiliated entity. In the year ended 31 December 
2024, an amount of EUR 504 thousand (net of trading profits and trading fees) was settled with 
the affiliated entity (year ended 31 December 2023: EUR 659 thousand).This agreement has been 
terminated on 30 June 2024. 

29.	 Subsequent events
No material subsequent events have taken place after the reporting date.
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SEPARATE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

  � Separate statement of financial position
   Separate statement of profit or loss
  � Notes to the separate financial statements
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31 December
2024

31 December
2023

EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000

Assets    
Financial fixed assets [32]        274.863        216.191 
    
Total fixed assets         274.863        216.191 
    
Trade and other receivables                342               163 
Receivables from group companies [39]            7.990            7.903 
Cash and cash equivalents [33]                 23               296 
    
Total current assets             8.355            8.362 
    
Total assets         283.218        224.553 
    
Shareholders' equity [34]   
Share capital                  10                 10 
Share premium         114.594        114.594 
Legal reserves            5.270 -
Other Reserves        (73.428)       (53.354) 
Unappropriated result           58.239          35.196 
    
Total Shareholders’ equity         104.685          96.446 
    
Non-current liabilities    
Trade and other payables [35] 178.533        128.107 
    
Current liabilities         178.533        128.107 
    
Total equity and liabilities         283.218        224.553 

The notes on pages 80 to 85 are an integral part of these separate financial statements.

SEPARATE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Before appropriation of result)
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For the year ended

 31 December 
2024

31 December
2023

 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000
   
Other income and expenses, after taxation             (433)            (397) 
Share in results from participating interests, after taxation [32]          58.672          35.593 
    
Net result           58.239          35.196 

The notes on pages 80 to 85 are an integral part of these separate financial statements. 

SEPARATE STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
30. General
These separate financial statements and the consolidated financial statements together 
constitute the statutory financial statements of Nuts Topholding B.V. (hereafter: ‘the Company’). 
The financial information of the Company is included in the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements, as presented on pages 19 to 76.

31. Basis of preparation
These separate financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Title 9, Book 2 of 
the Dutch Civil Code. For setting the principles for the recognition and measurement of assets 
and liabilities and determination of results for its separate financial statements, the Company 
makes use of the option provided in section 2:362(8) of the Dutch Civil Code. This means that 
the principles for the recognition and measurement of assets and liabilities and determination 
of the result (hereinafter referred to as principles for recognition and measurement) of the 
separate financial statements of the Company are the same as those applied for the consolidated 
EU-IFRS financial statements. These principles also include the classification and presentation 
of financial instruments, being equity instruments or financial liabilities. In case no other 
principles are mentioned, refer to the accounting principles as described in the consolidated 
financial statements. For an appropriate interpretation of these statutory financial statements, 
the separate financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial 
statements.

Information on the use of financial instruments and on related risks for the group is provided in 
the notes to the consolidated financial statements of the group.

All amounts in the company financial statements are presented in EUR thousand, unless stated 
otherwise.

a) Application of Section 402, Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code 
The financial information of the Company is included in the consolidated financial statements. 
For this reason, in accordance with Section 402, Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code, the separate 
profit and loss account of the Company exclusively states the share of the result of participating 
interests after tax and the other income and expenses after tax.

b) Participating interests in group companies
Group companies are all entities in which the Company has directly or indirectly control. The 
Company controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its 
involvement with the group company and has the ability to affect those returns through its 
power over the group company. Group companies are recognised from the date on which control 
is obtained by the Company and derecognised from the date that control by the Company over 
the group company ceases. Participating interests in group companies are accounted for in the 
separate financial statements according to the equity], with the principles for the recognition and 
measurement of assets and liabilities and determination of results as set out in the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements. 

Participating interests with a negative net asset value are valued at nil. This measurement also 
covers any receivables provided to the participating interests that are, in substance, an extension 
of the net investment. In particular, this relates to loans for which settlement is neither planned 
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nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future. A share in the profits of the participating interest in 
subsequent years will only be recognised if and to the extent that the cumulative unrecognised 
share of loss has been absorbed. If the Company fully or partially guarantees the debts of the 
relevant participating interest, or if has the constructive obligation to enable the participating 
interest to pay its debts (for its share therein), then a provision is recognised accordingly to the 
amount of the estimated payments by the Company on behalf of the participating interest.

c) Share in result of participating interests
The share in the result of participating interests consists of the share of the Company in the 
result of these participating interests. Results on transactions involving the transfer of assets 
and liabilities between the Company and its participating interests and mutually between 
participating interests themselves, are eliminated to the extent that they can be considered as 
not realised. 

The Company makes use of the option to eliminate intragroup expected credit losses against 
the book value of loans and receivables from the Company to participating interests, instead of 
elimination against the equity value / net asset value of the participating interests.

32. Financial fixed assets
The Company’s financial fixed assets fully comprise of participating interests in group companies. 
Movements are summarized as follows:

For the year ended
 31 December 

2024
31 December

2023
 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000
   
Carrying amount at 1 January        216.191        180.598 
Share in result of participations, net of tax          58.672          35.593 
   
Carrying amount at 31 December        274.863        216.191 

The Company is the holding company and has one 100% subsidiary: Nuts Holding B.V., statutory 
seat in Amsterdam and registered at the Reguliersdwarsstraat 58A, Amsterdam. 

33. Cash and cash equivalents
All cash and cash equivalents are at free disposal of the Company.
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34. Shareholders’ equity

Share capital Share 
premium

Legal 
reserves

Other 
reserves

Unapprop-
riated result

Total equity

EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000
     

Balance at 1 January 2023                 10        114.594                 -       (138.720)          85.366          61.250 

Profit/(loss)                 -                   -                   -                   -            35.196          35.196 
Appropriation of result                 -                   -                   -            85.366       (85.366)                 -   
Movement in legal reserve                 -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -   
Dividends                 -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   -   

Balance at 31 December 
2023

                10        114.594                 -         (53.354)          35.196          96.446 

Balance at 1 January 2024                 10        114.594                 -         (53.354)          35.196          96.446 
Profit/(loss)                 -                   -                   -                   -            58.239 58.239 
Appropriation of result                 -                   -                   -            35.196       (35.196)                 -   
Movement in legal reserve                 -                   -              5.270         (5.270)                 -                   -   
Dividends                 -                   -                   -         (50.000)                 -         (50.000) 

Balance at 31 December 
2024

                10        114.594            5.270       (73.428)          58.239        104.685 

Legal reserve
Other legal reserves consist of a legal reserve for capitalised development costs.
The legal reserve for the carrying amount of EUR 5.270 thousand has been recognised for 
capitalised development costs.
 
Unappropriated result
The financial statements for the reporting year 2023 have been adopted by the General Meeting 
on 30 May 2024. The General Meeting has adopted the appropriation of profit after tax as 
proposed by the Board of Management.

Proposal for profit appropriation 2024
The Board of Management proposes, with consent of the Supervisory Board, to the General 
Meeting to appropriate the profit after tax for 2024 as follows: to add the full amount to Other 
reserves.

For other components of equity reference is made to the statement of changes in equity and 
related notes in the consolidated financial statements for more information on shareholders’ 
equity.
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35. Trade and other payables

For the year ended
 31 December 

2024
31 December

2023
 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000
  
Payables to group companies        178.107        127.631 
Other payables               426               476 
   
   
Total        178.533        128.107 

The current liabilities all have a remaining term of less than one year. On the payables to group 
companies, no interest is incurred. The intercompany positions do not have a fixed repayment 
term.

36. Financial instruments
a) General
The Company’s financial instruments mainly comprise of receivables from and payables to group 
companies. The outstanding balances correlate to the available Group financial instruments 
considering the interrelationship between the entities. The Group considers (commodity) market 
risk, interest and cash flow risk, credit risk and liquidity risk (including long-tail risk) as the Group’s 
most substantial risks. In the notes to the consolidated financial statements information is 
included about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies 
and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s management of capital. These 
risks, objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the management 
of capital apply also to the separate financial statements of the Company.

b) Fair value
The fair value of the Company’s financial instruments is approximately equal to the carrying 
amounts.

37. Off-balance sheet assets and liabilities
a) Joint and several liability and guarantees
Declarations of liability have been issued for the subsidiaries Nuts Groep B.V., Nuts Holding B.V., 
Budget Thuis B.V., Budget Energie B.V. and Nuts Direct Sales Holding B.V. pursuant to Article 
2:403 Dutch Civil Code.

In 2023 Nuts Groep B.V. has provided a guarantee to Elegant B.V. for an amount of EUR 25 
million. During 2024 the guarantee was withdrawn and no other guarantees have been provided. 

b) Fiscal unity
Within the group multiple fiscal unities exist. Refer to note 27(b) for further information.
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38. Auditor’s fees
The following fees were charged by KPMG Accountants N.V. to the company, its subsidiaries and 
other consolidated companies, as referred to in Section 2:382a(1) and (2) of the Dutch Civil Code.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

KPMG Accountants N.V. Other KPMG Network Total

EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000
  

Audit of the financial statements                        505                          45                        550 
Other audit engagements                          49                           -                            49 
Tax-related advisory services                           -                             -                             -   
Other non-audit services                        158                           -                          158 

Total                        712                          45                        757 

For the year ended 31 December 2023

KPMG Accountants N.V. Other KPMG Network Total

EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000 EUR 1.000
  

Audit of the financial statements                        535                           -                          535 
Other audit engagements                          65                           -                            65 
Tax-related advisory services                           -                             -                             -   
Other non-audit services                        311                          79                        390 

Total                        911                          79                        990 

The fees included in the table for the audit of the financial statements 2024 and 2023 relate to 
the total fees for the audit of the financial statements 2024 and 2023, irrespective of whether the 
activities have been performed during the financial year 2024 and 2023. Other non-audit services 
in 2024 primarily relate to support services regarding CSRD readiness. 

39.	 Related parties
The transactions with related parties comprise relationships between Nuts Topholding B.V., the 
participants of Nuts Topholding B.V., and the directors and executive officers of the company. 
All transactions with related parties were realised on a commercial basis.

40.	 Remuneration of managing and supervisory directors
For remuneration including pension costs as referred to in Article 2:383 paragraph 1 Dutch Civil 
Code for directors and former directors for the year ended 31 December 2024 period, a sum 
of EUR 847 thousand (year ended 31 December 2023: EUR 632 thousand) was charged to the 
company and group companies. Supervisory board members do not receive remuneration. 
At 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, no loans, advances or guarantees have been 
provided to the directors by the company.
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41.	 Number of personnel employed by the Company
The average number of personnel employed by the Company, measured in FTE, is 2 for the year 
ended 31 December 2024 (year ended 31 December 2023: 1). No employees were employed 
outside the Netherlands (2023: none). 
 

42.	 Subsequent events
No material subsequent events have taken place after the reporting date.

Amsterdam, 28 May 2025

The Board of Directors:	

A.C. Buitelaar (CEO)		  S. Pronk (CFO) 

The Supervisory Board:
	

R. Rosendaal 			   M. Eikelboom 			   R.F. Vet 	            J.H.J. Vervuurt
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OTHER INFORMATION
Auditor’s report of the independent auditor
The auditor’s report with respect to the financial statements is set out on the following pages.

Provisions in the Articles of Association governing the profit appropriation
The following provisions in the articles of association regarding profit-sharing are included:

Article 19 (1) 
The general meeting is authorised to appropriate the profit determined by the adoption of the financial 
statements. If the general meeting does not make a decision on appropriation of the profit before or 
immediately after the decision to adopt the financial statements, the profit will be reserved. 

Article 19 (2) 
The general meeting is authorised to determine disbursements. If the company is required to hold 
reserves by virtue of the law, this authorisation only applies insofar as the equity capital is greater than 
these reserves. A decision of the general meeting that would involve disbursement will have no effect as 
long as the board has not granted approval. The board may only refuse approval if it knows or should 
reasonably foresee that, after the disbursement, the company will not be able to continue paying off its 
payable debts.
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